KARADENIZ TEKNIK ÜNIVERSİTESİ * SOSYAL BİLİMLER ENSTİTÜSÜ

DEPARTMENT OF WESTERN LANGUAGES AND LITERATURE MASTER'S PROGRAM IN APPLIED LINGUISTICS

THE READING HABITS OF STUDENTS PREFERRING ENGLISH LANGUAGE AND LITERATURE AND ENGLISH LANGUAGE TEACHING DEPARTMENTS

MASTER'S THESIS

Hakan YENİÇERİ

MAY-2019

TRABZON

KARADENIZ TECHNICAL UNIVERSITY * INSTITUTE OF SOCIAL SCIENCES

DEPARTMENT OF WESTERN LANGUAGES AND LITERATURE MASTER'S PROGRAM IN APPLIED LINGUISTICS

THE READING HABITS OF STUDENTS PREFERRING ENGLISH LANGUAGE AND LITERATURE AND ENGLISH LANGUAGE TEACHING DEPARTMENTS

MASTER'S THESIS

Hakan YENİÇERİ

Thesis Advisor: Assoc. Prof. Mustafa NACİ KAYAOĞLU

MAY-2019

TRABZON

APPROVAL

Upon the submission of the dissertation, Hakan YENİÇERİ has defended the study "The Reading Habits of Students Preferring English Language and Literature and English Language Teaching Departments" in partial fulfilment of the requirements for Master Degree in English Language and Literature at Karadeniz Technical University, and the study has been found fully adequate in scope and quality as a thesis by unanimous/majority vote on 19/06/2019.

Committee Members		Decision		Signature
Title - Name and SURNAME	Mission	Accept	Refuse	
Assoc. Prof. Dr. M. Naci KAYAOĞLU	Supervisor	Ø		
Prof. Dr. Gencer ELKILIÇ	Member	Ö		2 JUL
Asst. Prof. Dr. Rașide DAĞ AKBAŞ	Member			LOAN ALBAS

Approval of the Graduate School of Social Sciences

Prof. Dr. Yusuf SÜRMEN Director

DECLARATION OF ORIGINALITY

I, Hakan YENİÇERİ, hereby confirm and certify that;

- I am the sole author of this work and I have fully acknowledged and documented in my thesis all sources of ideas and words, including digital resources, which have been produced or published by another person or institution,
- this work contains no material that has been submitted or accepted for a degree or diploma in any other university or institution,
- all data and findings in the work have not been falsified or embellished,
- this is a true copy of the work approved by my advisor and thesis committee at Karadeniz Technical University, including final revisions required by them.
- I understand that my work may be electronically checked for plagiarism by the use of plagiarism detection software and stored on a third party's server for eventual future comparison.
- I take full responsibility in case of non-compliance with the above statements in respect of this work.

19.06.2019

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Throughout the writing of this thesis, I have received a lot of support and encouragement from a variety of people.

Foremost, I would like to express my very great appreciation to my thesis supervisor Assoc. Prof. Dr. M. Naci KAYAOĞLU for all his support, encouragement, patience and constructive feedback. Without your constant support, I could have never finished my thesis. Just as I was about to give up, you revitalized my motivation with your belief in me.

I am particularly grateful for the incredible amount of help by my colleagues Özlem ERDEM ÇAVDAR and Zeynep ÖZTÜRK DUMAN, who are more than just colleagues to me. You have always been there for me without even having to ask. I feel so fortunate to have crossed paths with you.

I also wish to acknowledge the support and encouragement provided by Dr. Tamer YILDIRIM and Dr. Hüseyin EFE: I am very fortunate to have you by my side.

I would also like to express my sincere gratitude to Prof. Dr. Gencer ELKILIÇ and Asst. Prof. Dr. Raşide DAĞ AKBAŞ for their constructive feedback during the dissertation.

I also want to thank all the prep students in the English Language and Literature and English Language Teaching departments of Atatürk University, Karadeniz Technical University, Artvin Çoruh University and Trabzon University, who willingly participated in the study.

Last but not least, I would also like to express my deep gratitude to my dear wife, İlknur YENİÇERİ for all the things she has done for me. You changed my whole life for the better. Furthermore, I cannot thank my mother, Ümmihan YENİÇERİ, and my late father, Yusuf YENİÇERİ, enough, both of whom brought me up with never-ending love and support. Finally, I would like to thank my dear daughter Zeynep YENİÇERİ for being my inspiration and fire in my heart whenever I felt weak.

May, 2019

Hakan YENİÇERİ

CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENI	1 V
CONTENTS	V
ABSTRACT	VII
ÖZET	VIII
LIST OF TABLES	IX
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	XI
INTRODUCTION	1-2
CHAPTER ONE	
1. FRAMEWORK OF THE STUDY	3-6
1.1. Statement of the Problem	
1.2. Purpose of the Study and Research Questions	4
1.3. Significance of the Study	5
CHAPTER TWO	
2. LITERATURE REVIEW	7-14
2.1. Key Terms	
2.1.1. Reading	
2.1.2. Reading Habit	8
2.1.3. Literature	8
2.2. Studies on Reading Habits	9
2.2.1. Studies in Turkey	9
2.2.2. Studies on EFL Students Worldwide	12
CHAPTER THREE	
3. METHODOLOGY	15-22
3.1. The Nature of the Study	15
3.2. Sample and Setting:	15
3.2.1. Sample for the Qualitative Section	16
3.2.2. Sample for the Quantitative Section	18
3.3. Data Collection Instruments	19

CHAPTER FOUR	
4. FINDINGS AND DISCUSSION	23-63
4.1. Results of the Qualitative Analysis	23
4.1.1. Choice of Department	24
4.1.2. Reading Habits	27
4.2. Results of the Quantitative Analysis	44
4.2.1. Choice of Department	44
4.2.2. Education Levels of the Participants' Parents	46
4.2.3. Reading Habits of DELL and ELT Group Students	48
CONCLUSION AND IMPLICATIONS	64
REFERENCES	
APPENDICES	74
CURRICULUM VITAE	

ABSTRACT

Reading is an indispensable part of personal development and a civilized society. It is of vital importance not only for increasing our world knowledge but also for developing our cognitive and academic skills. Consequently, developing good reading habits should be a main priority for any educational system and it is particularly important for teacher education as they are the ones who will educate future generations. Having good reading habits is probably more important for English language teachers because in addition to the benefits of reading aforementioned, it is also the basis of foreign language learning. There are two main sources for the recruitment of English teachers in Turkey, namely English Language and Literature departments (DELL) and English Language Teaching (ELT) departments; however, to the best of the author's knowledge, despite the vast body of literature on reading habits, there is no study in Turkey investigating the reading habits of these two groups comparatively. Accordingly, this study is an effort to fill the gap in this field and it aims to investigate the reading habits and attitudes of students who preferred either DELL or ELT departments as their first choices in the university entrance exam comparatively. The study used a mixed method research design: life history method was used in the qualitative section of the study and a questionnaire was used in the quantitative section as the data-gathering instruments. The sample in the qualitative and the quantitative sections of the study consisted of 298 and 294 participants respectively, from the prep classes of DELL and ELT departments of Trabzon University, Karadeniz Technical University and Atatürk University. The findings of the study yielded very similar results for both groups. Although both groups' attitudes towards reading were predominantly positive, less than half of them read one book a month on average and there was no statistically significant difference in terms of the amount of reading or the time allocated for reading by the two groups. The types of text or literary genres read were also similar and novel was found to be by far the most commonly read genre. The findings of the quantitative section indicated that the pleasure of reading, broadening one's horizon and gaining different perspectives were the major reasons for reading whereas the findings in the qualitative section suggested that learning new things, the pleasure of reading and personal development were the major reasons. As for the factors hindering reading, the internet and cellphones, the university entrance exam and the intensity of the studies came to the fore. There were only three statistically significant items in the study: the DELL group enjoyed reading more, they were more interested in literature and reading was more instrumental in their departmental preferences.

Key words: Reading, Reading Habit, Literature, Department of English Language and Literature (DELL), Department of English Language Teaching (ELT)

ÖZET

Okuma kişisel gelişim ve uygar bir toplumun ayrılmaz bir parçasıdır. Okuma hem bilgimizi arttırma hem de zihinsel ve akademik yeteneklerimizi geliştirme açısından çok önemlidir. Bu nedenle, iyi okuma alışkanlıkları oluşturmak bir eğitim sisteminin temel önceliği olmalıdır. Okuma özellikle öğretmen eğitimi açısından önemlidir çünkü gelecek nesilleri yetiştirecek olan öğretmenlerdir. İyi bir okuma alışkanlığına sahip olmak İngilizce öğretmenleri için daha da önemlidir çünkü daha önce bahsedilen faydalarının yanı sıra, okuma, yabancı dil öğreniminin temelini de oluşturur. Türkiye'de İngilizce öğretmenlerinin atanmasına kaynaklık eden iki temel bölüm vardır: İngiliz Dili ve Edebiyatı ve İngilizce Öğretmenliği. Fakat okuma alışkanlıkları hakkında yapılan pek çok araştırmaya rağmen, ülkemizde bu iki grubun okuma alışkanlıklarını karşılaştırmalı olarak araştıran, yazarın bilgisi dâhilinde herhangi bir çalışma yoktur. Bu açıdan, bu çalışma, bu alandaki boşluğu doldurmaya ve üniversite sınavında İngiliz Dili ve Edebiyatı veya İngilizce Öğretmenliği bölümleri 1. tercihleri olan öğrencilerin okuma alışkanlıklarını ve tutumlarını karşılaştırmalı olarak araştırmaya çalışmaktadır. Bu çalışmada karma araştırma modeli kullanılmıştır: çalışmanın nitel kısmında yaşam öyküsü tekniği, nicel kısmında ise bir anket veri toplama aracı olarak kullanılmıştır. Çalışmanın örneklemi Atatürk Üniversitesi, Karadeniz Teknik Üniversitesi ve Trabzon Üniversitesinin İngiliz Dili ve Edebiyatı ve İngilizce Öğretmenliği bölümlerinin hazırlık sınıflarından, nitel kısımda 298, nicel kısımda 294 öğrenciden oluşmaktadır. Çalışma her iki grup açısından çok benzer sonuçlar ortaya çıkarmıştır. Her iki grup da okumaya karşı yüksek oranda olumlu tutumlara sahip olmasına rağmen, yarıdan daha azının ayda ortalama bir kitap okuduğu görülmüştür ve iki grup arasında okudukları kitap sayısı veya okumaya ayırdıkları süre açısından istatistiksel olarak anlamlı bir fark bulunamamıştır. Bu iki grubun okudukları yazın türleri ve edebi türler de benzerlik göstermektedir ve romanın açık ara en fazla okunan tür olduğu görülmüştür. En yaygın okuma nedenleri, çalışmanın nicel kısmının sonuçlarına göre okumadan alınan haz, ufkunu genişletme ve farklı bakış açıları kazanma, nitel kısmına göre ise yeni şeyler öğrenme, okumadan alınan haz ve kişisel gelişimdir. Okumayı engelleyen faktörlere bakılınca, internet ve cep telefonları, üniversite sınavı ve derslerin yoğunluğu ön plana çıkmaktadır. Çalışmada istatistiki açıdan anlamlı olan sadece 3 madde vardır ve bunlar İngiliz Dili ve Edebiyatı grubunun okumaktan daha çok zevk aldığını, edebiyata daha fazla ilgi duyduğunu ve okumanın bölüm seçimlerinde daha etkili olduğunu göstermektedir.

Anahtar Kelimeler: Okuma, Okuma Alışkanlığı, Edebiyat, İngiliz Dili ve Edebiyatı Bölümü, İngilizce Öğretmenliği Bölümü

LIST OF TABLES

Γable No.	Title of the Table	Page No.
1	Departmental Distribution of the Qualitative Sample	16
2	Gender Distribution of the Qualitative Sample	17
3	Age Distribution of the Qualitative Sample	17
4	Departmental Distribution of the Quantitative Sample	18
5	Gender Distribution of the Quantitative Sample	18
6	Age Distribution of the Quantitative Sample	19
7	The First and Second Choices of Students Attending ELT Departments in the	
	University Entrance Exam	24
8	The First and Second Choices of Students Attending DELL Departments in th	ie
	University Entrance Exam	25
9	The Minimum and Maximum Scores in the University Entrance Exam for the	
	Departments Investigated in the Study	26
10	The Number of Books Read in a Specific Period of Time	29
11	The Number of Pages Read in a Specific Period of Time	30
12	The Time Allocated for Reading	31
13	Classification of Reading Habits According to Adverbs Modifying Reading	
	Frequency	32
14	Attitudes or Feelings towards Reading	33
15	Reasons for Reading	35
16	School-related or Exam-related Reasons	37
17	Reasons for not Reading	38
18	Types of Texts and Common Themes. (Key Words)	40
19	Types of Literary Texts and Literary Themes. (Key words)	42
20	The First Choices of Students Attending DELL and ELT Departments in the U	Jniversity
	Entrance Exam	45
21	The Second Choices of Students Attending DELL and ELT Departments in the	ie
	University Entrance Exam	46
22	Education Levels of the Participants' Fathers	47
23	Education Levels of the Participants' Mothers	47
24	The Time Allocated for Reading	48
25	Mann-Whitney U Test Results for the Time Allocated for Reading	48

26	The Number of Books Read Annually	49
27	Independent T-test Results for the Number of Books Read Annually	50
28	The Most Commonly Read Text Types (1. Choices)	51
29	The Most Commonly Read Text Types (2. Choices)	52
30	The Most Commonly Read Novel or Story Themes (1. Choices)	54
31	The Most Commonly Read Novel or Story Themes (2. Choices)	55
32	How the Books are Obtained	56
33	Reasons for Reading	57
34	Mann-Whitney U Test Results for Item 1. (I Read Because I Enjoyed Reading.)	58
35	Reasons Hindering Reading	59
36	School and Family Influence on Reading Rabits	60
37	Attitudes towards Reading	61
38	Mann-Whitney U Test Results for Item 2. (I was Interested in Literature.)	62
39	Mann-Whitney U Test Results for Item 6. (My Habit of Reading was Instrumental	in
	My Decision to Enroll in This Department.)	62
40	Preferred Language in Reading	63

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

DELL : Department(s) of English Language and Literature

ELL : English Language and Literature
 EFL : English as a Foreign Language
 ELT : English Language Teaching
 ESL : English as a Second Language

L1 : First Language L2 : Second Language

MEB : The Ministry of National Education
 ÖSYM : Student Selection and Placement Center
 SPSS : Statistical Package for Social Sciences
 YÖK : The Council of Higher Education

INTRODUCTION

Reading has been an indispensable part of human civilization since the invention of writing. The importance of reading can be best understood from the saying that history starts with writing and the rest is pre-history (Goody and Watt, 1963: 304). Although the importance of writing is highlighted here, its underlying meaning also emphasizes the significance of reading for human civilization. It is not only a pleasure but also a need for an inquiring mind. Schwarz (2008: 1-3) states that "reading is the journey of the mind to understand a world beyond itself" and he further argues:

Reading takes us elsewhere, away from where we live to other places. We read to satisfy our curiosity about other times and places, to garner information about what is happening in the world beyond our lives, to gather the courage to try new things even while considering admonitions not to try dangerous ones, and to learn about experiences we might try in the future.

Reading is fundamental for academic success (McGeown et al., 2015: 546). Krashen (2004: 35) points out that reading improves cognitive development and cultural knowledge. Coşkun (2002: 234-235) suggests that most of the learning materials at schools require reading and it constitutes the backbone of teaching programs. Reading is an essential part of education and it is more so for EFL learners (Dreyer & Nel, 2003: 350; Camiciottoli, 2001: 135) and particularly for English majoring students, yet there are relatively few studies investigating the reading habits of foreign language learners and even fewer ones on the reading habits of English majoring students. Furthermore, studies on the reading habits of EFL students (Arıkan & Zorba, 2017; Akarsu & Darıyemez, 2014; Iftanti 2012; Noor, 2011) have tended to focus on the general reading habits of the students, including text types such as newspapers, magazines, social media, books, rather than literary works and there has not been much research with a special emphasis on the literary backgrounds of English majoring students.

A better understanding of English Language and Literature (ELL) and English Language Teaching (ELT) students' reading habits will give us invaluable information, particularly in Turkish context, where many students graduating from the departments of English Language and Literature are employed as English teachers at primary, secondary and high schools governed by the Ministry of National Education (MEB) and literature courses are compulsory at English Language Teaching departments. It is also from the observation of many colleagues teaching at departments of Languages and Literature, though not supported with verified data, that students are not very much interested in literature, which may be a result of the possibility that they are not in

the department to study literature. More than half of the DELL students in the prep class I am currently teaching want to be English teachers, which is not surprising because many DELL graduates in Turkey want to be teachers and are employed at the Ministry of National Education (MEB).

Many students enter English Language and Literature departments with the aim of becoming English teachers by attaining a teaching certificate during their university years or upon graduation. Therefore, it may be reasonable to assume that students enrolled in English Language and Literature departments do not necessarily have a strong literary passion or literary background. A comparison of the reading habits of students preferring English Language Teaching departments and English Language and Literature departments may shed some light on the current state of the readiness and motivation of the students in these departments, which in turn, may provide some invaluable information both for universities having English Language and Literature or English Language Teaching departments in Turkey and for the Ministry of National Education in terms of educational policy making and curriculum development. Furthermore, taking the departmental choices of students into account while investigating the reading habits and literary backgrounds of students may give us a more comprehensive picture of the situation.

CHAPTER ONE

1. FRAMEWORK OF THE STUDY

1.1. Statement of the Problem

Reading is an essential skill for personal and social development (Kamalova & Koletvinova, 2016: 474; Grabe, 2009: 5). Krashen (2004: 35) argues that reading facilitates cognitive development and those who read more are more knowledgeable. To emphasize the importance of reading on a larger scale, Grabe (2009: 5) remarks that reading is a must for an individual in a modern society to succeed. Yılmaz et al. (2009: 24) state that reading has been one of the basic needs of human beings for a long time and it provides the basis for learning. Reading is essential for learning and it is likely that it is more so for EFL learners and particularly for English majoring students as it is one of the most efficient ways of learning foreign languages (Krashen, 2004: 147) and their courses inherently require a lot of extensive reading (Noor, 2011: 1; Camiciottoli, 2001: 135). Krashen (2004) claims that free voluntary reading is the foundation of language education and argues that reading enhances vocabulary and grammar acquisition and improves writing and speaking abilities. Mokhtari and Sheorey (1994: 60) highlight the importance of reading for second language learners and they suggest that universities should have special courses to improve the reading skills of ESL students.

There is an abundance of research on the reading habits of different educational backgrounds and age groups. So far, however, there has been little discussion about ELT students' or DELL students' reading habits despite the fact that reading is a much more pivotal skill for these academic programs (Akarsu & Darıyemez, 2014: 86; Iftanti, 2012: 150; Al-Nafisah et al., 2011: 2; Noor, 2011: 1; Camiciottoli, 2001: 135). Most of the studies in the field have a general focus on reading: they deal with reading activity in general such as online materials, social media, newspapers, magazines, novels, comics, books, yet, little attention has been paid to literary works or types of literary texts specifically. As literature is the main focus in ELL departments and ELT departments have compulsory literature courses in their curriculums, more research investigating not only the general reading habits but also the literary reading habits of these students is needed in order to understand the reading behavior of the students in these departments better.

1.2. Purpose of the Study and Research Questions

The purpose of the study is to investigate the general reading habits and the literary reading habits of prep class students who preferred ELL and ELT departments in the university entrance exam comparatively and whether their reading habits affected their choice of department. It was thought that using a department based comparison might not give us an accurate picture for the comparison of DELL and ELT students' reading habits because it is possible that many of the students in ELL departments are not in their current departments just because they are fond of literature. Accordingly, the participants reading habits were not analyzed according to the departments they were attending: they were analyzed based on their first preferences on their university entrance examination preference forms because the focus in this study is on not what the students were studying but on what the students wanted to study. Despite the fact that there may be many factors influencing students' decision-making during the preference period of the university entrance examination, such as family influence, geographical or economic reasons, students' first preferences are likely to be a stronger predictor of what they actually want to study than their current departments. Thus, the participants' first preferences in the university entrance examination were used as the main criterion for the comparison of reading habits and the research questions in the study are:

- 1. What are the similarities and differences between the reading habits and attitudes of students preferring to enroll in DELL and ELT departments in the university entrance examination prior to entering their departments?
 - 1.1. How much did DELL and ELT preference students read before entering their respective departments?
 - 1.2. What were the attitudes of the DELL group and the ELT group towards reading?
 - 1.3. What were the reasons of the DELL group and the ELT group for reading or not reading?
 - 1.4. What types of text and themes did the DELL group and the ELT group read before entering their respective departments?
 - 1.5. What types of literary texts and themes did the DELL group and the ELT group read before entering their respective departments?
 - 1.6. What language did the DELL group and the ELT group prefer in reading before entering their respective departments?
 - 1.7. What were the departmental preferences of students attending DELL and ELT departments in the university entrance examination?

1.3. Significance of the Study

As mentioned in the previous section, compared to the vast body of research on the general reading habits of students, studies concentrating on the reading habits of EFL or DELL students are very limited and they do not focus on literary texts specifically. Due to the fact that literature is the main body of the curriculums of DELL departments and an integral part of the curriculums of ELT departments, it is vital to pay special attention to the literary backgrounds of the students in these departments because the graduates of these departments make up the vast majority of the English teachers in Turkey. Despite lack of recent figures, based on an answer from MEB Directorate of Personnel in 2007, Karaata (2010: 108) asserts that 59.83% and 25.22% of English teachers in Turkey were graduates of faculties of education and faculties of science and letters respectively back then, which makes up more than 85% of the total English teacher population. It is reasonable to assume that this percentage has increased as the Council of Higher Education (YÖK), in collaboration with MEB, closed evening education ELT departments and reduced the number of students in daytime education ELT departments. Similarly, students at ELT departments may have other career choices than teaching.

DELL and ELT students' literary backgrounds and reading habits may give us a lot of insight about their motivation and dedication to their studies. It may seem common sense to assume that DELL students are highly motivated and passionate to read literary works as they have chosen to study literature, yet this doesn't always have to be the case because students enrolled in English Language and Literature departments may have some other purposes for choosing these departments, such as working in the tourism industry, becoming translators and particularly becoming teachers. Likewise, one might argue that it is probable that ELT students have a tendency to read for pleasure because their department requires a lot of reading and extensive reading helps foreign language acquisition a lot (Krashen, 2004; 147; Mokhtari & Sheorey, 1994: 60) and it is a very commonly used practice in EFL classrooms. Therefore, taking which department students want to study at university or their first preferences in the university entrance exam into account while investigating the reading habits of students in DELL and ELT departments may give us a better and more complete picture of the situation. Unfortunately, there is gap in this field and there has been no study combining the reading habits of DELL or ELT students in relation to their choices of department so far and the present study explores, for the first time, the reading habits of DELL and ELT students in relation to their departmental preferences in the university entrance examination.

To the best of the author's knowledge, this preliminary study is also the only mixed approach study that investigates the reading habits of English majoring students comparatively in Turkey. ELL and ELT departments are the major sources for the recruitment English teachers and between these two camps, there has been an ongoing discussion about whether attaining a teaching

certificate qualifies DELL students as competent teachers, which overlooks how important personal qualifications of teachers are in this profession. Having good reading habits is one of the essential personal qualifications that a teacher must have. In other words, it is not an option but a necessity for a well-qualified teacher, particularly for a social sciences teacher. Although this study is a preliminary descriptive study, it will add to the accumulation of knowledge about the reading behavior of prospective teachers, and further studies in our field or other fields might give us a more complete picture of the reading habits of prospective teachers, which in turn, might help educators in several ways. Having a better grasp of the reading habits and literary preferences of students may give us a better understanding of this vital issue, which may provide educators with invaluable information for curriculum development, educational planning and teacher guidance. Furthermore, weaknesses in their reading habits may be diagnosed and special courses may be offered to improve students' reading habits and strategies as Mokhtari and Sheorey (1994: 60) suggest. Finding out what students prefer to read may guide university libraries to enrich their libraries according to their students' interests. Besides, understanding students' literary tastes better may also enable educators to prepare the ground for their students' literary enrichment.

CHAPTER TWO

2. LITERATURE REVIEW

This chapter consists of two sections: the first section is devoted to an overview of the key terms about reading in relation to our study, and the second section is devoted to studies about the reading habits of university students or post-graduate students, which is also divided into two sections, namely "Studies in Turkey" and "Studies on EFL students worldwide".

2.1. Key Terms

2.1.1. Reading

The verb "read" is defined as "to look at words or symbols and understand what they mean" in its simplest form and as "to understand and give a particular meaning to written information, a statement, a situation, etc." in a more comprehensive sense on Cambridge Online Dictionary. Academic definitions of reading go way beyond these definitions. Grabe and Stoller (2013: 3) simply define reading as the ability to draw meaning from the printed page and interpret this information appropriately, yet they also argue that this definition is an oversimplification. Grabe (2009: 14) comes up with a more comprehensive definition of reading and contends that reading is a complex combination of processes and states that it is a rapid, efficient, comprehending, interactive, strategic, flexible, purposeful, evaluative, learning and linguistic process. Loan (2011: 43) defines reading as the ability to recognize, and examine words or sentences and understand the information within. One of the most comprehensive definitions of reading is given by Akyol (1997), who defines reading as a process of constructing meaning emerging from the interaction between the combination of written and unwritten sources, the reader and the environment. (as cited in Coskun, 2002: 232). In other words, reading not only includes the text and the setting but also the ideas, beliefs and backgrounds of the readers. Schwarz (2008: 1) emphatically define reading as the journey of the mind to understand a world beyond itself and he also argues that different readers will have different responses depending on their reading and life experience.

Noor (2011: 2) maintains that reading is a key to a wealth of experience that links people in a way far beyond distance or time. Unlike oral communication, which is limited by human memory, reading gives us the opportunity to pass human knowledge onto following generations. Loan (2011: 42) points out that reading habits stimulate the promotion of one's personal development and social

progress in general. Reading is a fundamental part of education, training and development of culture (Kamalova & Koletvinova, 2016: 480).

2.1.2. Reading Habit

Reading habit, as the name suggest implies a habitual or repeated activity (Chettri & Rout, 2013: 13). Shen (2006: 560) defines reading habit as how often, how much, and what students read. Noor (2011: 2) states that it is a pattern with which an individual organizes his or her reading.

Arıkan and Zorba (2017: 53) claim that reading habit and reading diversity, particularly when they are attained early in life, have a positive effect on individuals' mental, cultural and intellectual development, social maturation, educational life and critical and creative thinking abilities. They also suggest that reading in a foreign language improves not only reading success but also other skills. Furthermore, Yılmaz et al. (2009: 28) argue that reading habit is an indicator of the level of development both for the individual and for the society as a whole. Odabaş et al. (2008: 432) point out that reading habit is the basis for lifelong learning.

McGeown et al. (2015: 546) remark that adolescents' reading skills play a crucial role in their educational success as most curriculum subjects use text based materials for study. Furthermore, reading is an essential skill for personal and social development (Loan, 2011: 42; Noor, 2011: 2).

2.1.3. Literature

As mentioned earlier, this study aims to investigate not only the general reading habits but also the literary reading habits of students because literature is at the heart of the Language and Literature departments' curriculums and an integral part of ELT departments. However, there is not a general consensus about the definition of literature and definitions vary on a broad spectrum from more comprehensive ones to more restricted ones. Childs and Fowler state (2006: 129) that in a broad sense, literature was defined as the body of writings in a language, artistic or not before the 19th century. Baldick (2001: 141) defines literature as a body of written works related by subject-matter, by language or place of origin, or by prevailing cultural standards of merit. Quinn (2006: 243) refers to literature as "creative" works in the form of poetry, fiction, and drama, yet, he also adds that this definition excludes some non-fictional works commonly regarded as part of literature such as the essays of Montaigne and Bacon, biographies of James Boswell and diaries of Samuel Pepys and Anne Frank. Baldick (2001: 141) emphasizes the imaginative, creative, or artistic value of literature as opposed to non-fiction works' factual or practical reference.

It is important to make a distinction between literary texts and non-literary texts because it is the former that constitute the main body of English language and literature departments' curriculums and an important part of ELT departments' programs. However, a literary text is challenging to define because there is a difference of opinion about what constitutes literature. Accordingly, Quinn's (2006: 243) definition, which defines literature as "creative" works in the form of poetry, fiction, and drama will be used as a working definition for this study as it is neither too broad nor too narrow. Thus, although the general reading habits of students and their habits of reading literary text are somewhat overlapping categories, it is the latter that may give us a clearer understanding of their motivation for or commitment to their area of study particularly for departments of English Language and Literature.

2.2. Studies on Reading Habits

Mokhtari and Sheorey (1994: 48) point out that there is a vast body literature on reading habits, which goes back to the beginnings of twentieth century and "a variety of educational, social, and occupational settings have generally established that people read for a variety of purposes and functions". However, the scope of the studies on reading habits presented in this section will be limited to studies in Turkey and studies on EFL students worldwide for practical reasons as it will be more to the point and will avoid getting lost in the immense sea of research on reading habits.

2.2.1. Studies in Turkey

Akarsu and Darryemez (2014) explored reading interests and reading mediums of university students studying English Language and Literature at Atatürk University and the influence of the internet on their reading habits by administering a questionnaire to 76 randomly selected students. The findings showed that novels, text books, and online information were the most popular written works and magazines were the least popular among the participants and facebook (27.6%) and news and media (23.7%) were the first choices of the students when they got online. Although most of the respondents pointed out that they sometimes read e-books, stories and novels were among the least frequently read items online. The most popular online activities were listening to music (93.4%), chatting with friends (84.2%) and looking at photos (82.9%). The participants' attitudes towards reading were very positive and 88% specified that 'book reading' was the most effective method in developing reading skills.

In a similar study, Erdem (2015) investigated the reading habits of 326 students from Ankara University Department of Primary Education and Erciyes University History Department (225 students from Ankara University and 101 students from Erciyes University) using a survey and found out that the students read novels, newspapers and magazines the most and historic, romantic,

entertainment-humor, and psychology book genres were the most popular. The results also suggested that the participants obtained their books by purchasing (77,6%), followed by borrowing from friends (35,9%) and by borrowing from libraries (35%). As in the study by Akarsu and Dariyemez (2014), attitudes towards reading were positive but the percentage was lower: 62,3% of the students remarked that they enjoyed reading books and periodicals in contrast to 8,3% who reported that they did not enjoy it. The rest stated that they partially enjoyed it. The percentage of students reading more than 1 book a month was only 20,6% and the percentage of students who read 1 book a month was 42,9%. The percentage of those reading 1 book or fewer within 2 months was 30,4%. The remaining 6,1% remarked that they never read. The most popular reasons for reading were being informed (76,1%), personal development (63,2%), keeping up-to-date (55,2%) and making the best of spare time (40,2%) and the most common factors inhibiting reading were the intensity of studies (63,1%), busy social life (45,3%), preparation for examinations (43%) and spending time on the computer/the internet (35,2%).

Another related study by Yılmaz et al. (2009) on 104 students from the Faculty of Medicine at Hacettepe University and the Faculty of Arts, Design and Architecture at Bilkent University revealed that the reading habits of the participants were very poor. 25% of the participants remarked that they never read. 47,1% of the students reported that they read only one book or fewer in two months. The percentage of the participants reading one book a month was 22,1% and only 5,8% stated that they read two books or more a month. The most popular genres were novel, story and poetry for Bilkent University students and for Hacettepe University students, books on history, politics and economics were the most common. As for why the students read, studying (56,7%) was the most common response, followed by getting information (52,9%), personal development (51%), relaxing and running away from reality (45,2%), for pleasure (43,3%) and making use of their spare time (31,7). The reasons the students gave for not reading enough were mainly lack of time and the intensity of the courses. Furthermore, purchasing books (85,6%) was the most common way of obtaining books to read, followed by borrowing from other people (51,9%) and borrowing from libraries (44,2%). The time allocated for reading was limited. The results indicate that 12,5% of the participants never read, 38,5% read less than one hour, 46,2% read between 1-2 hours and 2,9% read between 3-4 hours. However, as in Akarsu and Dariyemez (2014) study, the results suggested that their attitudes about reading were very positive. 84,6% of the participants thought that it was necessary to have a reading habit although only 19,2% of them thought that they read enough compared to 55,8% of the participants, who thought that they do not read enough.

Odabaş et al. (2008) research on the reading habits of 304 Ankara University BA students from a number of science and social sciences departments revealed that although there were some relatively small improvements throughout their education, the students did not have adequate reading habits. They administered a questionnaire to 304 students and the findings demonstrated

that 4,6% of the participants never read, 46,1% of the students read less than six books a year, 38,5% read 6-11 books annually and the percentage of the students who read more than 11 books was only 10,9%. Furthermore it was shown that females devoted more time to reading than males and in total, 13,2% of the participants read between 0-30 minutes, 37,5% read between 30-60 minutes, 35,2% read between 1-2 hours and the other 14,1% read for more than two hours. The participants studying social sciences departments read more than the participants in science departments. Another finding of the study was that there was no statistically significant difference between the students' socioeconomic status and the number of books they read.

Arıkan and Zorba (2017) investigated the reading habits of 200 randomly selected BA students enrolled in English Language and Literature department of Akdeniz University using a likert scale questionnaire consisting of 20 items and the results suggested that 48,1 % of the students did not read regularly and the percentage of student who read a book every day was just 24,4%. The study also revealed that nearly half of the students (45,6%) did not read a book each month although their general attitudes towards reading were positive. This study complements Akarsu and Dariyemez (2014) and Yılmaz et al. (2009) studies in that the vast majority of the students' attitudes were positive towards reading: 80,3% of the students remarked that they loved reading and 81,9% of the participants stated that reading improved their intellectual capacity and psychological well-being. They also remarked that reading and personal development were directly proportional. As for the factors negatively influencing reading, students were of the opinion that the amount of time spent online and using cellphones reduced the time allocated for reading and despite the fact that there were countless open access books online, only 24,9% had a habit of reading e-books. Besides, the majority thought that people around them did not value reading much and their parents did not read much. The students did not put forward financial difficulties as a reason for not being able to obtain books and 34,7% of the participants stated that they bought at least a book each month and 26,4% borrowed books from friends and only 23,3% specified that they borrow at least one book each year from libraries. Another finding of the study was that despite studying English literature, most of the participants preferred to read in Turkish.

Ögeyik and Akyay (2009) studied the reading habits and attitudes of 187 students from English Language Teaching and German Language Teaching departments of the Faculty of Education at Trakya University using a questionnaire. The findings suggested that the majority of the students' attitudes towards reading were positive and 73,8% of the participants stated that they liked reading in their leisure time and 98,4% of them thought that reading was an indispensable part of life. 67,9% of the participants stated that they liked reading in foreign languages. Reading for pleasure was the most common reason for reading followed by gaining real world knowledge and their heavy workload was seen as the main reason hindering their reading. Novels and short stories were the most popular genres. Most of them indicated that purchased the books they wanted to read.

Ilgar and Ilgar (2012) investigated the relationship between 227 teacher candidates' internet usage and their reading habits at Istanbul University using a personal information sheet developed by the researchers. The findings suggested that there was not a statistically significant relationship between the numbers of books they read and the time they spent on the internet. Furthermore, there was not a significant relationship between the numbers of books they read and their purpose of the internet usage, either. Another finding of the study was that Turkish language and literature and history teacher candidates read more books than mathematics, chemistry, physics and biology teacher candidates.

Higher education requires good reading skills and a lot of reading (McGeown et al, 2015; Noor, 2011); however, contrary to expectations, the studies on reading habits in Turkey have generally shown how little university students read despite the fact that their attitudes towards reading are mainly positive. The reading habit studies carried out in Turkey has mainly used a quantitative research approach, mostly with a questionnaire. Furthermore, they have investigated the general reading habits and have generally not dealt with literature specifically, so studies with a special focus on literary reading habits of students and mixed approach studies, which utilize a qualitative methodology in addition to a quantitative one, might provide a lot more useful and accurate information about the reading habits of the participants.

2.2.2. Studies on EFL Students Worldwide

There are a good deal of studies on the reading habits of university students and post-graduate students. Due to the fact that the participants in this study consist of EFL students only, in this section, only studies on EFL or ESL students will be included in order to establish a base for comparison.

Mokhtari and Sheorey (1994) investigated the reading habits of 158 ESL students at different levels of English proficiency (high vs. low) and different levels of education (graduate vs. undergraduate) in both first language (L1) and second language (L2), using a survey and found that the participants' levels of education and English proficiency were associated with their reading behavior patterns. Participants who were more proficient in English spent more time reading and read a wider variety of academic reading materials than those who were less proficient in English. The participants with higher TOEFL scores were more likely to rate their reading skills in English higher than the group whose TOEFL scores were lower. Furthermore, the participants allocated little time for extracurricular reading or reading for pleasure and they preferred their native tongue while reading non-academic materials, which might be considered as an indication of the utilitarian approach of adult readers to reading.

In a similar study, Camiciottoli (2001) studied the reading frequency and attitudes of 182 Italian EFL students in relation to extensive reading in English using a questionnaire. The results obtained suggested that although the participants' attitudes towards extensive reading in English were favorable, their frequency of extensive reading in English was quite low. Surprisingly, unlike the results of Mokhtari and Sheorey's (1994) study, the number of years of past English study was negatively correlated with reading attitude. Students' most popular reasons for extensive reading in English were improving vocabulary (31.4%), enhancing general literacy 26.1%) and its being useful for their careers (14.8%). Another finding of the study was that lack of time due to studies (29,4%) and lack of time in general (18.7%) and not knowing what to read (17.2) were considered as the main reasons limiting extensive reading in English.

Iftanti (2012) surveyed the reading habits of 546 EFL students in English, using a questionnaire and interview validation. The results suggested that although the students had positive attitudes towards reading, they had poor reading habits. 22,3% of the participants remarked that they did not read every day and 21,4% percent asserted that they read about one hour a day, followed by 17,6%, who specified that they read less than an hour. Most of the students had a utilitarian approach to reading in English: 94,5% of the students stated that they read in English in order to improve their English and 88.8% in order to improve their knowledge. 65.6% of the students pointed out that they read for pleasure. E-text reading was rare: only 3.9% of the students reported that they read e-texts.

Noor (2011) explored the reading habits and preferences of a group of 52 post-graduate students at the School of Language Studies and Linguistics using a quantitative methodology and the findings suggested that the participants read internet materials (88%) the most, followed by emails (85%), textbooks (81%), dictionaries (77%) and novels and storybooks (69%). The percentage of the students reading less than 1 hour daily was 27% and 38% of the participants devoted 1-2 hours to reading. 23% of the participants read between 2-4 hours and the other 12% read more than 4 hours. It was also found that the participants mostly read for studying and pleasure. Furthermore, when they read for studying, their choice of language was mainly English and they preferred their mother tongue when they read for pleasure.

Another quantitative study by Al-Nafisah et al. (2011) on the reading interests of 460 Saudi ELT students indicated that the most popular written materials were stories, adventure books, books about religion and newspapers. Not being able to go to libraries, inability to get books quickly, unavailability of the books of interest and time constraints were found to be the major factors hindering reading. The participants expressed that while choosing the books to read, the main criterion was meeting their reading interest, followed by requirements of their teachers and how interesting the main characters in the books were. The most common reasons for reading were

mainly practical ones: improving language skills, learning new things and enhancing academic performance respectively.

Similar to the studies on reading habits in Turkish context, the studies in this section utilized mostly a quantitative methodology. Again, it might be argued that there is a need for mixed approach studies to get a better insight into ESL/EFL students' reading habits on an international scale by making use of the strengths of both research approaches. Another similarity between the reading habits studies in Turkish context and studies done abroad is that the participants generally have positive attitudes towards reading. However, unlike studies in Turkey, studies on the reading habits of EFL/ESL students abroad mostly placed an emphasis on L2 reading habits in addition to L1. The results generally suggest that reading in L2 is generally utilitarian and for pleasure reading, L1 is preferred.

CHAPTER THREE

3. METHODOLOGY

This chapter provides an overview of the research approaches and the data collection instruments used in the study and gives information about the sample and setting of the study for both qualitative and quantitative sections of the study.

3.1. The Nature of the Study

A mixed-method approach combining qualitative and quantitative approaches was utilized in the study in order to benefit from the strengths of both research approaches. Dörnyei (2007:24) defines all three research approaches as follows:

Quantitative research involves data collection procedures that result primarily in numerical data which is then analysed primarily by statistical methods...Qualitative research involves data collection procedures that result primarily in open-ended, non-numerical data which is then analysed primarily by non-statistical methods... Mixed methods research involves different combinations of qualitative and quantitative research either at the data collection or at the analysis levels.

Kumar (2011: 103-104) suggests that quantitative study designs are specific, well-structured and "tested for their validity and reliability" whereas qualitative design is flexible and emergent in nature, and often non-linear in operationalization. Blaxter et al. (2010: 206) argue that combining qualitative methodology and quantitative methodology may help in several ways such as helping triangulation and generalizability, providing a general picture. They also argue that qualitative research facilitates quantitative research, which was the case in this study as the analysis of the qualitative data provided the basis for the construction of the items in the questionnaire, which was applied at a later time than the qualitative data collection phase of the study.

3.2. Sample and Setting

Convenience sampling was used in the study and voluntary prep students enrolled in English Language and Literature departments of Karadeniz Technical University (KTÜ) and Atatürk University and prep students enrolled in ELT departments of Trabzon University and Atatürk University constituted the participants of the study. Voluntary students from the prep class of English Language and Literature department of Çoruh University (AÇÜ) comprised the piloting

group for both the qualitative and quantitative sections of the study. In order for easier access and data-gathering, the universities selected were all from provinces near Artvin province apart from Çoruh University, which is in Artvin itself. Only Prep students were studied as students' reading habits may change over time and the focus of the study was on what their habits were before their higher education. As the qualitative and quantitative data were collected at different times, there might have been slight changes in the sample although the sample size very close in both sections. Accordingly, the samples of the qualitative and quantitative sections of the study are presented in different sub-categories.

3.2.1. Sample for the Qualitative Section

3.2.1.1. Departmental Distribution of the Qualitative Sample

As shown in Table 1, a total of 298 participants participated in the qualitative section of the study and 212 students (71,1%) were from English Language and Literature departments (DELL) and 86 (28,9%) of them were from English Language Teaching (ELT) departments. The number of participants from ELT departments may seem disproportionate to the number of participants from English Language and Literature departments, yet the focus of the study was not on their present departments but on their first choices in the university entrance examination because it was assumed that the students' first choices would be a better indicator of what they wanted to study at university than the actual departments they were attending. As a result, the students were evaluated mainly according to their preferences rather than the departments they were enrolled in. Accordingly, 29 participants who did not specify their first preference in the university entrance examination were excluded from some parts of the analysis in addition to the 16 students preferring departments other than English Language and Literature (ELL) and ELT due to the fact that this study is mainly a comparative study of students preferring ELL and ELT departments.

Table 1: Departmental Distribution of the Qualitative Sample

Universitiy/Department	N
Trabzon University ELT department (Daytime Education):	16 (5,4%)
Atatürk University ELT department (Daytime Education):	70 (23,5%)
ELT Total	86 (28,9%)
Karadeniz Technical University DELL (Daytime Education):	39 (13,1%)
Karadeniz Technical University DELL (Evening Education):	47 (15,8%)
Atatürk University DELL (Daytime Education):	50 (16,8%)
Atatürk University DELL (Evening Education):	76 (25,5%)
DELL Total	212 (71,1%)
Total (N)	298 (100%)

3.2.1.2. Gender Distribution of the Qualitative Sample

As can be seen from Table 2, the respondents were predominantly females and there were 149 (70,3%) female and 63 (29,7%) male participants from the departments of English Language and Literature and 57 (66,3%) female and 29 (33,7%) male participants from ELT departments.

Table 2: Gender Distribution of the Qualitative Sample

	Total	Number Of Female Participants	Number Of Male Participants
DELL	212	149 (70,3%)	63 (29,7%)
ELT	86	57 (66,3%)	29 (33,7%)
Total (N)	298	206	92

3.2.1.3. Age Distribution of the Qualitative Sample

From Table 3, we can see that the participants' ages were predominantly between 18 and 20 although when the whole sample is taken into account, the age range was between 17 and 49. The range of age is an important variable in this study due to the fact that it may have very serious implications on the reading habits of the participants. The scope of the study was limited to the last five years before the respondents' enrollment in their departments because most of the students were expected to be 18, 19 and 20 year old students and the last five years would include the last year of secondary school and high-school years for most of them. Although there were some participants in their late 20s, 30s and 40s, 90,9% of the students were in the projected age group. As outliners were observed not to have the capacity to change the distribution due to the large sample size in the study (N=298), they were not removed from the analysis.

Table 3: Age Distribution of the Qualitative Sample

Age	Total	DELL	ELT
17	8 (2,7%)	3	5
18	157 (52,7%)	109	48
19	91 (30,5%)	66	25
20	23 (7,7%)	17	6
21	3 (1%)	1	2
22	1 (0,3%)	1	-
23	5 (1,7 %)	5	-
26	3 (1%)	3	-
28	1 (0,3%)	1	-
28	1 (0,3%)	1	-
31	1 (0,3%)	1	-
38	1 (0,3%)	1	-
39	2 (0,7%)	2	-
49	1 (0,3%)	1	-
Total (N)	298 (100%)	212	86

3.2.2. Sample for the Quantitative Section

3.2.2.1. Departmental Distribution of the Quantitative Sample

Table 4 shows that 294 students participated in the quantitative part of study and 101 out of 294 students were from ELT departments, which constitutes 34,4% of the total number of participants and the remaining 193 students (65,6%) were from ELL departments. The number of participants in the qualitative section of the study was 298, which is very close to the number of participants in the quantitative section; however, it is important to bear in mind that the questionnaire was administered at a different time later, so the sample in the quantitative section might be partially different although the total numbers of participants are very close for both groups. Furthermore, in the following sections, missing data will be excluded from the analysis and only valid answers will be used. As a result, the total number of participants may be different than 294 for each section.

Table 4: Departmental Distribution of the Quantitative Sample

Department	N	%
Atatürk University ELT Department	81	27,6
Trabzon University ELT Department	20	6,8
ELT Total	101	34,4
Atatürk University DELL (Evening Education)	60	20,4
Atatürk University DELL (Daytime Education)	46	15,6
Karadeniz Technical University DELL (Evening Education):	42	14,3
Karadeniz Technical University DELL (Daytime Education):	45	15,3
DELL Total	193	65,6
Total (N)	294	100,0

3.2.2.2. Gender Distribution of the Quantitative Sample

As can be seen in Table 5, about one third the participants were females as in the quantitative section of the study: there were 195 female participants (66,8%) and 97 (33,2%) male participants.

Table 5: Gender Distribution of the Quantitative Sample

Gender	N	%
Female	195	66,8
Male	97	33,2
Total (N)	292	100,0

3.2.2.3. Age Distribution of the Quantitative Sample

From Table 6, we can see that the vast majority of the participants are between 18 and 20 years old (90,5%) and the range of age is between 17 and 49 (Mean=19,21, Std. Dev.=2,668, N=292). Again, outliers were not removed from the analysis as they were not observed to change the distribution because of the large number of participants (N=292)

Table 6: Age Distribution of the Quantitative Sample

Age	N	%
17,00	4	1,4
18,00	113	38,7
19,00	112	38,4
20,00	39	13,4
21,00	8	2,7
22,00	3	1,0
23,00	5	1,7
24,00	1	0,3
26,00	3	1,0
29,00	1	0,3
30,00	1	0,3
41,00	1	0,3
49,00	1	0,3
Total (N)	292	100,0

3.3. Data Collection Instruments

As mentioned in the nature of the study section, this study is a mixed study combining qualitative and quantitative research designs in order to make use of the strengths of both research approaches. The qualitative dimension of the study used narrative inquiry method, in which students were asked to write about their reading habits before they entered their graduate programs. The quantitative part of the study explored the same issue using a questionnaire.

Narrative inquiry, which is also known as life history method, was used on the qualitative side of the study as students' reading habits are multifaceted issues due to the fact that there might be many factors interacting with each other. Furthermore, there might be some idiosyncratic responses, which require the categorization of data to be more flexible. We should have a real grasp and in-depth understanding of the issues under inspection and using only a close-ended survey might limit the responses that the respondents give or might create response bias. As a result, it was thought that it would be more appropriate to add a qualitative dimension to the study for such a

task. Thus, using narrative inquiry method was considered to be more suitable to this study in order to achieve a more balanced and in-depth investigation of the subjects as Wicks and Whiteford (2006: 95) state:

The use of context-bound narratives in qualitative studies facilitates understanding of the complex relationship between what people do, their health and the contexts in which they live. Second, qualitative approaches provide what is referred to as an emic or insider's perspective and experience. An insider's perspective is crucial in understanding the meaning constructions of an individual, group or community in relation to a specific phenomenon.

Life history method provides a rich, insider perspective for personal matters as Wicks and Whiteford (2006: 96) suggest:

Life stories are very appropriate for understanding a life time of occupational experiences and for understanding the personal, social, economic, historical and geographical influences that shape those experiences.

Cohen et al. (2007: 317) state that questionnaires are a widely used and useful instrument for collecting survey information, providing structured, often numerical data and a questionnaire was used as the data gathering method in the quantitative part of the study. Dörnyei (2007) refers to questionnaires as "any written instruments that present respondents with a series of questions or statements to which they are to react either by writing out their answers or selecting from among existing answers". Factual information about the students, students' past and present habits and their attitudes were investigated in the study, which made questionnaires tailored for data gathering in this study as these are exactly what questionnaires measure as Dörnyei (2007:102) suggest:

...questionnaires can yield three types of data about the respondent: Factual questions which are used to find out certain facts about the respondents, such as demographic characteristics...Behavioral questions which are used to find out what the respondents are doing or have done in the past, focusing on actions, life-styles, habits, and personal history. Attitudinal questions which are used to find out what people think, covering attitudes, opinions, beliefs, interests, and values.

3.4. Data Analysis

The life history paper inquired about the reading habits of the students for the five years before their entrance to their graduate programs. The paper was in Turkish in order to avoid problems which might otherwise arise from language barrier. At the beginning of the paper, the participants' written consents were asked and there was a demographic information section without names after it, which inquired about their genders, ages, current departments, and their first and second preferences in the university entrance examination. In the open-ended section, the students were asked to write about their reading habits for the last five years prior to their enrollments in

their departments. The piloting of the qualitative section of the study was done at Artvin Çoruh University English Language and Literature department during the fall semester of the 2018-2019 academic year. 36 students participated in the piloting and some minor changes were made in the wording of the questions in order to get some more specific answers: the participants were additionally asked how much they read in order to get the information about the number of books they read. The only difficulty the participants verbalized during piloting was not being able to remember their second choices on the university entrance exam preference forms, which was overcome by looking them up online. After the necessary changes were made, a new form was created in order to elicit information from the participants about their reading habits. Following the piloting, the paper was distributed to the participants from the DELL and ELT departments in Trabzon University, Karadeniz Technical University and Atatürk University towards the end of the fall semester. The narratives' contents were analyzed and the categories and sub-categories were determined from the data emerging. Key words were identified and their frequencies were presented in tables. Furthermore, extracts were provided for the themes emerging from the data.

On the quantitative side of the study, there was a questionnaire consisting of three pages which started with the participants' written consents, followed by some demographic information: their genders, ages, current departments and their first and second preferences in the university entrance examination were inquired in the first four sections of the questionnaire respectively. In the fifth and sixth sections, the participants were asked about the education levels of their parents. In the seventh and eighth sections their amount of reading was inquired and the following two sections inquired about the types of texts and themes they read most respectively. In the eleventh section, the students were asked about their future career plans and in the twelfth section, they were asked about their methods of obtaining books that they read. At the end of the questionnaire, there were two likert scale sections, the first of which inquired their reasons for reading and the second one asking about their past reading habits and attitudes. The students were asked to mark the sentences in the likert scale sections ranging from strongly disagree (1) to strongly agree (5) and they were asked to mark (3) if their answers were neutral. The questionnaire was in Turkish in order to avoid any confusion due to language barrier. Most of the items in the questionnaire were selected from the data which emerged from the qualitative section of the study. Expert opinions were also taken. The students were presented with choices but in order not to limit them as much as possible, there was an "other (please specify)" option for most of the questions. The piloting of the quantitative section of the study was done with 35 Artvin Coruh University DELL students at the beginning of the spring semester of the 2018-2019 academic year and the data obtained were analyzed quantitatively using SPSS statistical program version 25. For the piloting group, Cronbach's alpha for the likert scale sections was 0,804 and for the actual sample group, it was 0,878. After the piloting, some minor changes were made again: the expression "for the last five years" was changed to "for the last five years before your enrollment in this department" and the orders of some of the items were changed. Afterwards, the questionnaire was distributed to the participants enrolled at the DELL and ELT departments in Trabzon University, Karadeniz Technical University and Atatürk University at the beginning of the spring semester of the 2018-2019 academic year and their answers were analyzed using SPSS statistical program version 25 again.

CHAPTER FOUR

4. FINDINGS AND DISCUSSION

This chapter presents the finding of the study in two different sections in accordance with the data collection instruments used in the study. The findings emerging from the life history papers were presented in the section devoted to the results of the qualitative analysis and the results obtained from the questionnaires were presented in the results of the quantitative analysis section.

4.1. Results of the Qualitative Analysis

As mentioned earlier, narrative inquiry method, which is one of the qualitative research methods, was used in the qualitative section of the study as the issues under consideration were intertwined and multifaceted and require an in-depth understanding and an insider perspective (Wicks and Whiteford, 2006: 96). Furthermore, this method did not limit students' answers and it was possible to collect not only the recurrent themes emerging from the data but also the participants' possible idiosyncratic responses, which might have gone unnoticed otherwise. However, in order to make the data more manageable for the analysis, the qualitative data was quantified following a series of steps suggested by Braun and Clarke (2006), namely, familiarizing one-self with the data, generating initial codes, searching for themes, reviewing themes, defining and naming themes and producing the report.

The students were asked about some demographic information in the first section of the papers distributed to them and then asked to write about their reading habits for the previous 5 year period before their entrance to their respective graduate programs. The period was limited to 5 years in order to cover the participants' high-school period and the last year of secondary school for most students as the age range of most of the participants in the study was expected to be between 18 and 20, which was verified by the results of the study, which indicated that 271 of the 298 participants (90,9%) were in the projected age range. The main focus of the study was on the years just before they entered university because one of the main focuses of the study was to investigate whether there was a relationship between participants' reading habits and their choice of department in the university entrance examination. One possible problem with investigating such a long time period was that the participants might not have been able to recall their past reading habits over the past five years. However, no participant mentioned about it either during the piloting or in their papers.

4.1.1. Choice of Department

As the current study aims to investigate the reading habits of the students who preferred DELL and ELT departments in the university entrance exam comparatively, the students' choice of department on the university entrance examination (YKS) preference form was the main criterion for the evaluation of the reading habits of the participants. Thus, the data and the tables in the subcategories in this study were presented accordingly. Their preferences in the university entrance examination rather than the departments they were attending were used as the main criterion to compare the reading habits of the participants in this study because what the participants wanted to study was thought to be more important than what they were actually studying.

Table 7: The First and Second Choices of Students Attending ELT Departments in the University Entrance Exam

Department Preferred	Frequency of the First Choice	Frequency of the Second Choice
ELT	73	68
DELL	1	2
Translation and Interpreting	2	1
German Language Teaching		1
Dentistry	1	-
Nutrition and Dietetics	-	1
Architecture		1
No Second Choice	-	1
Not Specified	9	11
Total (N)	86	86

As can be seen from Table 7, when we look into the first choices of students attending ELT departments in the university entrance examination, it can clearly be seen that both the first and second choices of the participants are predominantly ELT departments. Out of the 86 participants in ELT departments, 73 students (85%) preferred ELT departments as their first choices. There were 2 students whose first choices were the departments of translation and interpreting and there was only one student who chose DELL and another one whose first preference was dentistry. 9 students did not specify their first choices.

There is a similar picture when the second choices of the respondents in ELT departments are analyzed. The vast majority of the respondents' second choices were also ELT departments. Two students preferred DELL as their second choices, yet, it should also be noted that their first choices were ELT departments in the same city, and it is probable that their second choices were affected by other factors such as geographical proximity rather than a preference for the department. The frequency for the department of Translation and Interpreting, German Language Teaching

department, Nutrition and Dietetics and Architecture was only one. 11 students did not specify their second choices and one student specified that he or she had only one choice. The fact that student's choices were overwhelmingly ELT departments may give us the general impression that most of them want to be English teachers; however, a note of caution is due here since during the preference period for the university entrance exam, many factors such as family or teacher influence might come into play and the fact that their first preferences were ELT departments does not necessarily mean that they all want to become English teachers as explained by one of the participants from a DELL department whose first choice was ELT.

During the preparation period for the exam, I changed my mind several times. While I was choosing my department in high-school, I was thinking of becoming a teacher, but then I thought "Why would I limit myself by studying ELT?" and I leaned towards (English) Language and Literature. I love reading and theatre. After reading Shakespeare's sonnets, I definitely decided to study language and literature but I could not resist the insistence of my teachers and family and wrote ELT as my first choice. (Participant 284)

Table 8: The First and Second Choices of Students Attending DELL Departments in the University Entrance Exam

Department Preferred	Frequency of the First Choice	Frequency of the Second Choice
ELT	115	74
DELL	64	89
Translation and Interpreting	7	6
English Linguistics	2	2
American Culture and Literature	2	2
Arabic language and Literature	1	-
Engineering	1	2
Japanese Language and Literature	-	1
Russian Language and Literature	-	1
No Second Choice	-	4
Not Specified	20	31
Total (N)	212	212

Almost all of the ELT students' first preferences specified were ELT departments. However, when we look into the preferences of students attending departments of English Language and Literature given in Table 8, we can see a relatively more heterogeneous picture. ELT preference was the most common first choice again but this time with a lower percentage: 115 students' (54%) declared that their first choice on the university entrance exam preference form was ELT. DELL was the second first option for 64 students (30%) and Translation and Interpreting department was the first preference for 7 students (3%). There were two students each preferring the departments of English Linguistics and the department of American Culture and Literature. Arabic Language and Literature and Engineering were the least frequent first choices with only one student preferring

each. 20 participants did not specify their first choices. The high frequency of ELT preference students in DELL departments is not surprising considering the fact that DELL students can also become English teachers after getting a teaching certificate. As one participant attending DELL put it:

First of all, I want to finish this department and get a teaching certificate and then I want to work for MEB (Ministry of National Education), in other words I want to become an English teacher. I also want to work at language schools. (Participant 232)

Due to the fact that the minimum scores for ELT departments are generally higher than English Language and Literature (ELL) departments for universities or cities where both programs are offered and the fact that minimum scores for the evening programs of English Language and Literature departments are relatively lower compared to their daytime counterparts, students might use English Language and Literature departments or evening programs of English Language and Literature departments as a path to become English teachers as stated by one participant:

I have always wanted to be a teacher and since the day I selected my department (English department in high-school), I have always wanted to be an English teacher but unfortunately because of my score in the university entrance exam, I was not able to get into an ELT department but my goal is still the same and will always be the same. (Participant 248)

Table 9: The Minimum and Maximum Scores in the University Entrance Exam for the Departments Investigated in the Study

Department	Minimum Score	Maximum Score
Trabzon University ELT	391,02249	465,97377
KTU DELL (Daytime)	362,91224	436,57673
KTU DELL (Evening)	347,27691	441,80246
ATATÜRK University ELT	365,90307	434,79361
ATATÜRK University DELL (Daytime)	336,45363	406,66837
ATATÜRK University DELL (Evening)	319,37123	419,94350

In Table 9, the minimum scores for the departments in this study are presented for the year 2018 according to ÖSYM (Student Selection and Placement Center). (Retrieved from https://dokuman.osym.gov.tr/pdfdokuman/2018/YKS/YER/Tablo4MinMax_31082018.pdf)

It is very difficult to understand what percentage of students preferring DELL did so just for the sake of studying literature due to various reasons. Some of them might have wanted to study literature while at the same time having the chance to become English teachers or the fact that some participants had a full-time job might have necessitated their DELL preferences as ELT departments have no evening education option. Nevertheless, it can be argued that DELL departments were more diverse in their motives and more heterogeneous compared to ELT departments.

As for the second choices of DELL students, there is a noticeable change in the percentages of ELT and DELL preferences: DELL takes the lead with 89 second choices (41%) followed by 74 ELT second choices (35%). There were 6 students who preferred Translation and Interpreting as their second choice, 2 students each preferred English Linguistics, American Culture and Literature and Engineering departments and there was only one respondent each for Japanese Language and Literature and Russian Language and Literature departments. 4 students remarked that they had no second choice on their preference forms. 31 students did not specify their second choices.

There is a remarkable shift in participants' second choices from ELT to DELL. This might be partially attributed to geographical preference when the first and second choices of the students are in the same city. A total of 37 students' both choices were in the same city. 14 of these students' first choice was DELL and apart from only one them, all of them preferred DELL as their second choice, which might be interpreted as an indication of their desire to study literature. The other 23 student in this group, whose first two choices were in the same city, preferred ELT as their first choice and only 4 of them had ELT as their second choice. The remaining 19 students had ELT as their first choice and DELL as their second. A possible explanation for this might be that, in case they could not enter an ELT department in a particular city, they might have preferred to enter an English Language and Literature department in the same city.

4.1.2. Reading Habits

It should be noted again that the participants' first preferences in the university entrance examination were used as the main criterion for the comparison of reading habits. It is also important to note that reading habits investigated in this section does not make a distinction between L1 and L2; yet, the students' responses were mostly about their reading habits in L1.

4.1.2.1. The Amount of Reading by the DELL and the ELT Groups

29 participants who did not specify their first preferences in the university entrance examination and participants preferring Translation and Interpreting (9), English Linguistics (2), American Culture and Literature (2), Arabic Language and Literature (1), Engineering (1) and Dentistry (1) departments were excluded from the analysis because drawing conclusion from such small samples would not be possible and the study mainly compares DELL and ELT students. So the sample for this part of the analysis consisted of 253 participants, 188 students preferring ELT and 65 students preferring ELL departments as their first preference.

Yılmaz (2004) classified reading habits into three broad categories based on the number of books read annually by using an adaptation of American Library Association's (1978) categorization, namely poor reading habits, (up to 5 books annually) average reading habits (between 6-11 books annually) and strong reading habits (more than 11 books annually). Although this classification seems arbitrary, it will be useful to use some kind of criteria in order to quantify students' responses. However, it should be noted that to the question "How much time did you allocate for reading?", some participants responded with the number of books they read in a specific period of time, some specified the time they allocated for reading daily, some used adverbs of frequency and some others did not provide any answer at all. As a result the participants' responses were categorized into three broad categories:

- 1. The number of books or pages read
- 2. The time allocated for reading
- 3. Adverbs modifying their reading frequency.

When there were overlapping categories, in other words, when the student responses provided information from more than one category, the category that comes first in that particular order above was used for categorization because Yılmaz's classification (2004) of reading habits based on the number of books read annually was used as the basis for categorization. 49 students (19 from ELL departments and 30 from ELT departments) did not provide any information about how much or how often they read and they were left out in the analysis, leaving 204 participants for the analysis. It is of great importance to also note that as the answers were grouped together according to the 3 types of answers given above, the percentages given in the study are just the percentages of the responses in that particular grouping, in other words, the percentages given in a specific category should not be considered as their proportions to the whole group.

When the participants' answers regarding the number of books read in a specific period of time (Table 10) are analyzed, it can be seen that many participants specified the number of books they read in a specific time period, yet there were also some participants who gave the number of pages they read. So, the researcher used two sub-categories, namely the number of books read in a specific period of time and the number of pages read daily. A classification of the responses in relation to the amount of reading by the two groups is given in Table 10, Table 11, Table 12 and Table 13 below from the most frequent to the least frequent.

Table 10: The Number of Books Read in a Specific Period of Time

Number of Books/Time Period	TOTAL	DELL Group	ELT Group
3 books a week	1	-	1
2-3 books a week	2	1	1
1 book every three days	3	1	2
2 books a week	5	2	3
At least 1 book a week	1	-	1
1 book a week	7	1	6
1 book every 1-2 weeks	1	1	-
3 books a month	1	-	1
2-4 books a month	1	1	-
2-3 books a month	1	-	1
30 books a year	1	1	-
2 books a month	8	2	6
20-25 books every summer	1	7 -7	1
1-2 books a month	6	1	5
At least 1 book a month	2	1	1
1 book a month	15	6	9
Strong Reading Habits	83,6%	81,8%	84,4%
6-7 books in Summers	1	-	1
6-7 books a year	1	-	1
1 book every two months	2	1	1
Average Reading Habits	6%	4,6%	6,7%
1 book in 2-3 months	1	1	-
4-5 books a year	2	1	1
3-5 books a year	1	-	1
3 books a year	1	-	1
1 book a year	2	1	1
Poor Reading Habits	10,4%	13,6%	8,9%
TOTAL (N)	67	22	45

As can be seen from Table 10, participants whose answers included 3 books a week, 2-3 books a week, 1 book every three days, 2 books a week, at least 1 book a week, 1 book a week, 1 book every 1-2 weeks, 3 books a month, 2-4 books a month, 2-3 books a month, 30 books a year, 2 books a month, 20-25 books every summer,1-2 books a month, at least 1 book a month and 1 book a month fall into the category of students with strong reading habits according to Yılmaz's (2004) categorization because the number of books read annually adds up to at least 12 books. 81,8% of the 22 participants preferring ELL departments and 84,4% of the 45 students preferring ELT departments were in this category, which makes up a total of 83,6% of all the 67 participants in this group. These results shows that the vast majority of participants who specified the number of books they read in a specific period of time have strong reading habits according to Yılmaz's (2004) categorization. These finding are contrary to previous research results which suggested that nearly

half of the participants did not read a book a month (Arıkan & Zorba, 2017; Erdem, 2015) or that majority of the students do not read a book a month (Yılmaz et al., 2009, Odabaş et al., 2008).

Students whose answers included 6-7 books in Summers, 6-7 books a year and 1 book every two months fall into the category of students with average reading habits as they stated that they read between 6-11 books a year on average and 4,6% of the 22 students preferring DELL and 6,7% of the 45 students preferring ELT, which makes up 6% of the 67 students in total.

The total number of the participants in poor reading habits category, whose answers included 1 book in 2-3 months, 4-5 books a year, 3-5 books a year, 3 books a year and 1 book a year, was 7 and the total number of books they read annually was fewer than 6. 13,6% of the 22 students preferring DELL and 8,9% of the 45 students preferring ELT were in this category, which makes up 10,4% of the 67 students in total. These results suggest that there were not large discrepancies between the ELT and the DELL groups in terms of the books they read when we analyze the number of books read annually.

Table 11: The Number of Pages Read in a Specific Period of Time

Number of Pages/Time Period	Total	DELL	ELT Group
70 pages a day	1	-	1
30-40 pages a day	1	1	-
30 pages a day	1	-	1
Total (N)	3	1	2

As some of the students preferred to specify the number of pages they read daily rather than the number of books they read in a specific time period, their responses were shown in a different table, namely Table 11. All the same, we can also use the same categorization as in Table 10 and categorize all three students in Table 11 as students with strong reading habits because at a rate of at least 30 pages daily, it will normally take less than a month to finish a book.

Table 12: The Time Allocated for Reading

Time	Total	DELL Group	ELT Group
4-5 hours a day	1	-	1
3-4 hours a day	1	1	-
3 hours a day	2	1	1
2-3 hours a day	3	-	3
At least 2 hours a day	1	-	1
At least 12 hours a week	1	-	1
At least 1,5 hours	3	-	3
8-10 hours a week	1	-	1
1-2 hours a day	4	1	3
1 hour weekdays, 5 hours on holidays	1	-	1
At least 1 hour a day	1	1	-
1 hour a day	12	-	12
45 minutes a day	1		1
At least 30 minutes a day	6	1	5
30 minutes a day	1		1
20 minutes a day	1		1
2 hours a week	1		1
15 minutes a day	1		1
TOTAL (N)	42	5	37

Students' specific responses about the time they spent on reading are given from the most frequent to the least frequent in Table 12. The answers in this category were generally given on a daily basis and only three students gave answers using a weekly basis. The most common response was "1 hour a day" with a frequency of 12 (28,6%), which was followed by "at least 30 minutes a day" with a frequency of 6 (14,3%). It can easily be noticed that lower end of spectrum belongs to the responses from ELT students (from 15 to 30 minutes a day) whereas the situation in the upper part of Table 12 is comparatively more homogeneous. The results in this category suggest that the vast majority of the participants (73,6%) read one hour or more daily. This percentage is the same as that of the participants reading 1 hour or more in Noor's (2011) study, yet it differs from other previous research findings which suggest that the majority of the students allocated less than hour for reading (Iftanti, 2012; Yılmaz et al., 2009) or a bare majority (Odabaş et al., 2008) read one hour or more daily.

Some students' answers did not contain any number of books or a time period allocated for reading, instead, they used frequency adverbs such as every day, usually, generally, often, sometimes, rarely, hardly ever. For ease of classification and in order to comply with Yılmaz's (2004) categorization mentioned before, the answers were categorized into 3 broad categories, namely "rarely", "occasionally" and "often". For instance, usually generally and often were categorized as "often" and rarely or hardly ever were categorized as "rarely". The only criteria in this section were not only frequency adverbs: when there were no frequency adverbs, quantifiers

such as "few", "many", "some" were also translated to their frequency adverb counterparts. For example, the following student's answer was categorized as "often" although there were not any frequency adverbs in it.

I have had a habit of reading for the last four years and I have read a lot of books and I feel that my interpretation ability has been improving, which makes me happy. (Participant 87)

Some of the responses were categorized according to the general interpretation of the answers depending on the personal judgment of the researcher even if there was no frequency adverb or quantifier. To illustrate, the following responses was classified as "often", "sometimes" and "rarely" respectively.

I have loved reading since my childhood years. When I was a child, I used to go to the libraries and read there. Now I buy books and I am trying to create my personal library on a small scale. (Participant 129)

I am not the type of person who reads all the time. I generally read books recommended by my friends. Now that I have to read because of my department. (Participant 125)

I did not have a reading habit. I would only read books assigned by teachers. (Participant 179)

Table 13 below shows the classification of the reading frequencies of the participants from the most frequent to the least frequent according to their first preference in the university entrance examination.

Table 13: Classification of Reading Habits According to Adverbs Modifying Reading Frequency

Frequency	Total	DELL Group	ELT Group
Often	47 (51,1%)	14 (77,8%)	33 (44,6%)
Sometimes	5 (5,5%)	-	5 (6,8%)
Rarely	40 (43,5%)	4 (22,2%)	36 (48,6%)
Total (N)	92	18	74

Table 13 shows that unlike the previous tables, there is a sharp contrast between students preferring ELL and ELT departments. Only 22,2% of the students who preferred ELL departments falls into the "rarely" category whereas it is 48,6% for the students who preferred ELT departments. "Sometimes" was the least frequent category, which could have been a result of students' perceptions or the evaluation of the researcher being skewed towards both ends of the spectrum. Despite the small sample size, Table 13 suggests that participants preferring DELL tend to perceive themselves to have read more frequently than participants preferring ELT departments.

4.1.2.2. Attitudes towards Reading

The students were not directly asked about their attitudes or feelings towards reading, yet some of them explicitly stated their attitudes and feelings. The researcher looked for positive words or phrases such as "like", "love", "enjoy", "be addicted to", or negative words or phrases such as "don't like", "hate", and "don't enjoy". The amount or the frequency of their reading was not taken into consideration as reading a lot or often does not necessarily mean loving reading or the other way around as suggested by the following participants:

Before entering this department, I did not read much. I did not like reading but I still read because we were given marks by our teachers for reading. (Participant 181)

I believe that the habit of reading is attained in childhood. Unfortunately, I could not attain this habit in my childhood. I love books. I buy many books with great enthusiasm but I cannot read. I cannot read about other people's lives or other characters. I get bored too much. (Participant 33)

Students may read for a variety of purposes from homework to improving their knowledge or skills and still may not like it. Conversely, a student may not read much due to reasons such as being very busy or lack of access to books and still enjoy reading.

 Total
 DELL Group
 ELT Group

 Positive
 88 (88,9%)
 22 (95,7)
 66 (86,8%)

 Negative
 11 (11,1%)
 1 (4,3%)
 10 (13,2%)

 Total (N)
 99
 23
 76

Table 14: Attitudes or Feelings towards Reading

It can be seen from Table 14 that when the positive and negative statements about the participants' responses are analyzed, out of the 253 students whose first preference we know, only 99 students (39,1 percent) expressed their attitudes and feelings about reading. The results show that almost all of the negative responses came from students preferring ELT departments and only one student whose first choice was DELL (4,3%) stated that he/she did not like reading whereas for students preferring ELT, the number students with negative attitudes was 10 (13,2%). For the positive side, the picture was relatively homogeneous as the percentages were 95,7% and 86,8 for students with DELL and ELT preferences respectively and 88,9% of the total responses were positive, which is consistent with the previous research findings suggesting positive attitudes towards reading (Arıkan & Zorba, 2017; Erdem, 2015; Akarsu & Darıyemez, 2014; Iftanti, 2012; Akyay & Ögeyik, 2009; Yılmaz et al., 2009; Camiciottoli, 2001). Similar results can also be seen in Table 12 and Table 13, in which students with an ELT preference have noticeably higher percentages on the negative ends of the spectrums although such differences are much smaller on the positive ends of these spectrums.

Most of the students with negative attitudes directly stated they do not like reading without making any explanations. One participant (Participant 231) only stated that he/she does not like reading. Another participant (Participant 20) remarked that he/she does not like reading and does not read much. Only two of them gave their reasons for not enjoying reading:

When I was a child, I used to read but as I grew up, I got bored of it. I would have never read if my teachers had not told me to read. I had to read for my assignments. (Participant 203)

Generally, I did not read much. I used to get bored after reading for a while. (Participant 14)

The great majority of the students who wrote about their attitudes and feeling towards reading had positive attitudes. Many students preferring either department emphasized their passion for reading.

I have loved reading since my childhood years. I have read a lot of books thanks to my grandfather. Reading is like stepping into a different world. I devote much of my time to reading because I love it very much, that's why I chose this (ELL) department. (Participant 277).

I have always loved reading since my childhood. For me, reading is more important than my school and lessons because it gives me the chance to listen to myself and it relieves my tiredness. I get aggressive if I cannot read enough when I am too busy with my lessons. Reading makes me happy, I look for myself in everything I read and I sleep less in order to be able to read more (Participant 57).

4.1.2.3. Reasons for Reading and Reasons Hindering Reading

There were many students who did not write about their reasons to read, but some other students wrote more than one reason. There were 202 reasons in total specified in the papers of the participants whose first choices were either DELL or ELT given in Table 15. The responses were categorized into broader categories. For instance, "to improve reading comprehension" and "to improve reading speed" responses were categorized as "to improve reading skills". The most common answer for DELL students was "to learn new things" with 9 responses, which constitutes the 20% of the answers given by DELL students. It was followed by "for pleasure" and "personal development" with 5 (11,1%) and 4 (8,9%) responses respectively. The most common three responses were the same for ELT departments, yet the order was different. For pleasure was the most frequent response and 15 students remarked that they read for pleasure (9,6%), followed by "for personal development" (8,3%) and "to learn new things" (7,6%). These findings in this study support the evidence from Erdem (2015) and Yılmaz at al. (2009) studies, which revealed that being informed, personal development and making use of one's spare time were among the major reasons for reading.

Table 15: Reasons for Reading

Reason	Total	DELL Group	ELT Group
To learn new things	21	9	12
For pleasure	20	5	15
For personal development	17	4	13
To improve vocabulary	10	-	10
Teacher influence	9	1	8
To gain different perspectives	9	2	7
For homework	8	1	7
To broaden one's horizon	8	2	6
To prepare for exams	8	1	7
To relax	8	-	8
To make use of one's spare time	7	1	6
To improve intellectual capacity	6	2	4
To improve speaking ability	6	1	5
To improve English	5		5
To improve general culture	5	3	2
To prepare for the university entrance exam	5	2	3
To get away from the real world	5	-	5
It is a need	4	-	4
To overcome boredom	4	1-	4
Family influence	3	1	2
To be happy	3		3
To find peace of mind	3		3
To improve imagination	3	1	2
To improve reading skills	3	1	2
To improve self -awareness	3	2	1
To relieve stress	3	2	1
To be guided by books	2	-	2
To improve empathy	2	1	1
To satisfy curiosity	2	-	2
Enjoying fantasy world	1	-	1
Just to be able to say "I have read this book"	1	-	1
To find oneself	1	-	1
To follow technological developments	1	1	-
To identify oneself with other characters	1	-	1
To improve language skills	1	-	1
To learn lessons about life	1	-	1
To open the door to different worlds	1	-	1
To overcome loneliness	1	1	-
To participate in reading competitions	1	1	-
Total (N)	202	45	157

Learning new things was the most common reason given for reading when both groups were combined. It is a very broad expression which may encompass not only accumulation of knowledge but also other things like general culture, new vocabulary, personal development, which makes categorization very difficult. For ease of categorization, more specific expressions such as improving general culture or improving vocabulary were given as separate entities. The following excerpts emphasize the importance of reading in increasing knowledge.

I love reading because it gives people different perspectives and encourages them to learn new things. (Participant 21)

I think that books contribute a lot to me and they increase my accumulation of knowledge. (Participant 1)

Inherent pleasure of reading was one of the most common responses, yet some of the respondents pointed out that it went well beyond a pleasure and became a need for them.

Reading gives me a lot of pleasure. It allows me to get away from the real world even if it lasts for a few hours. I try to learn lessons from the events that the characters in the book go through or from their lives. (Participant 146)

I got the habit of reading during my secondary school years. I read novels and essays on a regular basis every month because I regard reading as a need. I read 1 or 2 books every month. (Participant 39)

In line with previous research findings (Arıkan & Zorba, 2017; Erdem, 2015; Yılmaz et al., 2009), personal development was a major reason for reading and it was the third common reason in the qualitative part of the study. Many other subcategories can be included in this category, such as "to broaden one's horizon" or "to improve intellectual capacity", yet such common themes were listed as separate entities to give a more specific idea of why the participants read. It should also be noted that personal development books was one of the most common themes read by the participants.

I developed a habit of reading because it would contribute to me a lot. (Participant 8)

My reason for reading was to improve myself and to avoid any difficulties during university entrance examination. (Participant 82)

Another finding of the study was that there were 9 students suggesting teacher influence as a reason for reading as opposed to 3 participants suggesting family influence.

I had not been someone who used to read a lot. When I was at 11th grade, I got a habit of reading thanks to the books that my philosophy teacher recommended to me and for the last three years I have read a book each month. (Participant 118)

I started reading habitually at 10th grade thanks to activities done by my teacher at a Language and Expression course. At first, I was not aware of the benefits of reading, but I was attached to reading more and more as I noticed how wonderful and soothing reading was. (Participant 24)

Table 16: School-related or Exam-related Reasons

Reason	Total	DELL Group	ELT Group
To improve vocabulary	10	-	10
For homework	8	1	7
To prepare for exams	8	1	7
To improve English	5	-	5
To prepare for university entrance exam	5	2	3
To improve reading skills	3	1	2
Total number of school or exam related reasons	39	5	34
Total number of reasons for reading (N)	202	45	157

It can be argued from the data in Table 16 that the ELT group are more pragmatic in their reasons for reading as they gave a lot more school-related or exam-related reasons for their reading. This finding is consistent with that of Yılmaz et al. (2009), which indicated that the majority of the reasons for reading were study related. Out of the 45 answers in total by ELL students and 157 by ELT students, the number of school or exam related answers were 5 (11,1%) and 34 (21,7%) for the DELL and ELT groups respectively. These findings, which reveal the ELT group's utilitarian approach, are in accordance with the results of previous research done abroad (Iftanti, 2012; Al-Nafisah et al., 2011; Noor, 2011; Camiciottoli, 2001; Mokhtari and Sheorey, 1994) and many of these studies suggest that pragmatic reasons like improving language skills, improving vocabulary or enhancing academic performance, were the major reasons for elf learners, particularly for reading in the target language. Some of the students preferring ELT departments explicitly stated this utilitarian approach in their reasons for reading:

I did not have a habit of reading. I only read articles in English and did translations which were necessary for my department. I read in order to improve my English. I am not in favor of reading for the purpose of discovering new things or new thoughts. It is more logical to discover the world outside. Life does not ask questions to us from books. (Participant 135)

Improving English and improving vocabulary responses were exclusive to the ELT group and none of the DELL group students' responses included these reasons.

I read foreign story books: normal, ordinary story books. I read stories in English at least for 3 hours, 4 days a week. My aim in reading these was to be able to speak fluently and not to get stuck with unknown words. (Participant 145)

Having to read for assignments and preparation for exams, particularly the university entrance exam were also among the common reasons for students preferring ELT departments.

Unfortunately, I do not have a reading habit. I only read "compulsorily" thanks to the homework assigned to us at school. (Participant 228)

I read paragraphs in Turkish and English. I read English books. I did not allocate much time for reading. I did all of these for the university entrance exam. (Participant 295)

Table 17: Reasons for not Reading

	Total	DELL Group	ELT Group
Being busy studying for the university entrance exam	29	8	21
Being busy with lessons	12	3	9
Getting bored	4	-	4
Being busy	3	-	3
Being busy working	2	1	1
Dislike for reading	2		2
Lack of access to books	1	-	1
Lack of motivation to read	1	-	1
Total (N)	54	12	42

As can be seen in Table 17, There were only 54 reasons given for not reading in total, 42 of which were by participants preferring ELT departments and 12 by students preferring DELL. Almost all of the reasons given for not reading were related to busyness such as being busy preparing for the university entrance examination (29 responses with 53,7%), being busy with lessons (12 responses with 22,2%) or being busy working (2 responses with 3,7%). 3 students stated that busyness was a hindrance for their reading but did not state what they were busy with. 21 (50%) ELT group participants stated that studying for the university entrance exam hindered their reading whereas 8 (66,7%) DELL group students remarked that the university entrance exam interfered with their reading habits. These results are somewhat similar to the results of previous research (Erdem, 2015; Ögeyik & Akyay, 2009; Camiciottoli, 2001), in which the intensity of the studies and preparation for exams were some of the most common reasons hindering reading. Yılmaz et al. (2009) study also suggested that lack of time and the intensity of the courses were the main reasons hindering reading.

Except for being busy for various reasons, getting bored (4) was the most common response and all 4 were given by ELT group. A dislike for reading (2), a lack of access to books (1) and a lack of motivation to read (1) were the other responses. Interestingly, all of the reasons stemming from negative attitudes towards reading or a lack of motivation to read, namely a dislike for reading, getting bored and a lack of motivation to read, came from students whose first choices were ELT.

In contrast with 13 participants in total who remarked that they read in order to prepare for exams and the university entrance exam, 41students in total remarked that exams or university entrance exam interfered with their reading habits, which might suggest that opinions vary as to the effects of reading on students' academic achievement. Many students suggested that exams hindered their reading habits.

I could not allocate much time for reading because I was too busy with my lessons but I tried to read as much as I get the opportunity. (Participant 137)

Until the last year of high-school I read a lot. I mostly read poetry and novels but in the last year of high-school, I had to discontinue because I had to study for the university entrance exam. (Participant 169)

As someone who loves reading, I read a lot of books except my last year at high-school, when I was studying for the university entrance exam. During this period, I read only one book. (Participant 42)

In contrast with the participants who stated that they could not read as a result of university entrance exam, there were some participants who used reading as a strategy to improve their performance in the university entrance exam.

I started reading regularly at eleventh grade because I was aware of the fact that it was important for the university entrance exam...Our high-school teacher told us how important it was and gave us some examples from his life. (Participant 272)

4.1.2.4. What Students Read

With regard to the types of texts and common themes read by the participants, 393 key words were specified by both groups (the ELT group and the DELL group) in total. The types of texts and themes were given in the same table (Table 18) using key words because many participants' answers were ambiguous regarding what they read. To illustrate, 12 participants specified that they read "detective novels" and 20 participants stated that they read "detective" but did not clarify whether it was detective stories or novels. Due to the fact that it was impossible to determine which of these fiction types they mean, the researcher resorted to giving them as different key words because categorizing all of them as detective novels or detective stories could have led to oversimplification. The same argument applies to many other categories such as "action" and "action novels", "adventure" and adventure novels" "thriller" and "thriller novels". Table 18 shows the types of texts and common themes in alphabetical order. In contrast, some other students just stated the type of text and did not specify any theme. For example, 53 students stated that they read novels but did not specify what kind of novels they read.

Table 18: Types of Texts and Common Themes. (Key Words)

Table 18: Types of Texts and Common Themes. (Key Words)				
Types of Texts and Common Themes	Total	DELL Group	ELT Group	
Action	5	-	5	
Action novels	5	2	3	
Adventure	7	3	4	
Adventure novels	8	2	6	
Anime	1	-	1	
Articles	7	4	3	
Arts	1	-	1	
Biography	7	-	7	
Classic novels	2	-	2	
Classics	11	4	7	
Comics	1	-	1	
Contemporary books	2	2	-	
Crime	3	-	3	
Crime novels	3	1	2	
Detective	20	5	15	
Detective novels	12	5	7	
Drama	5	3	2	
Essay	3	1	2	
Exploratory writings	1	-	1	
Fantastic Fantastic	10	3	7	
Fantastic novels	5	4	1	
Historical novels	7	5	2	
	21	7	14	
History				
Horror	3		3	
Horror novels	1 7	-	1	
Magazines	7	3	4	
Modern classics	1	1	-	
Mystery	2	1	1	
Mythology	5	-	5	
Newspapers	3	1	2	
Novels	53	10	43	
Periodicals	1	-	1	
Personal development	13	4	9	
Philosophical novels	1	-	1	
Philosophy	13	5	8	
Poetry	15	5	10	
Political novels	1	-	1	
Politics	6	1	5	
Psychological novels	6	1	5	
Psychology	9	4	5	
Religion	3	2	1	
Romance	6	3	3	
Romance novels	7	1	6	
Scientific	7	3	4	
Science fiction	22	5	17	
Science fiction novels	3	2	1	
Short stories	2		2	
	3	2	1	
Sociology	9			
Story		2	7	
Thriller	8	1	7	
Thriller novels	1	-	1	
Turkish classics	4	1	3	
Turkish novels	2	1	1	
Underground literature	1	-	1	
Utopic	2	-	2	
War novels	1	1	-	
World classics	23	8	15	
Youth novels	2	2		
Total Number of Key Words	393	121	272	

When Table 18 is analyzed, it is salient that novel is the most common keyword for both groups; 10 out of 121 keywords (8,3%) specified by the DELL group and 43 out of 272 keywords (15,8%) specified by the ELT group were "novel". However, it should be taken into consideration that in addition to these 53 "novel" responses in total, there were 67 other responses with a particular type of novel such as "fantastic novel", "crime novel", which adds up to 120. This result is in accord with previous research findings (Erdem, 2015; Akarsu & Dariyemez, 2014; Ögeyik & Akyay, 2009; Yılmaz et al., 2009) which demonstrated that novels were the most commonly read written materials. However, unlike Erdem (2015) and Akarsu and Dariyemez (2014) studies, "newspapers" was not a common keyword in the qualitative section of this study.

For the DELL group, "World classics" were the second most popular key word with 8 responses (6,6%) followed by "history" with 7 (5,8%). As for the ELT group, "science fiction" was the second most frequent response with 17 (6,2%) responses, followed by "detective" and "world classics" with 15 (5,5%) responses each.

In Table 18, types of texts and themes were given using key word technique; however, special attention should be paid to literary texts as literature constitutes the main body of DELL departments' curriculum and in order to see whether there are any differences between the DELL group and ELT group students' literary reading habits. As mentioned earlier, creative works in the form of poetry, fiction and drama (Quinn, 2006) were considered as literary works as a working definition in this study. In this respect, the types of texts given in Table 19 were classified as literary texts.

When Table 18 Table 19 are analyzed together, it can be seen that 288 key words out of 393 total responses (73,3%) were literary text types or themes and there are relatively lower frequencies for some non-fiction types such as newspapers or magazines than expected. One reason for this may be the widespread use of the internet for getting daily information. Furthermore, some participants might have overlooked non-fiction text types such as newspapers or magazines and might have mainly focused on literary reading habits when asked about their reading habits. The quantitative questionnaire might give a better understanding of the issue as non-fiction types were also listed in it as options. Another unanticipated finding of the study was that despite the fact that poetry is an important literary genre, there were relatively fewer mentions of it compared to Yılmaz et al. (2009) study, which suggested that poetry was one of the most commonly read text types although their participants were not from literature departments.

Table 19: Types of Literary Texts and Literary Themes. (Key words)

Types of Literary Texts and Literary Themes	Total	DELL Group	ELT Group
Action	5	-	5
Action novels	5	2	3
Adventure	7	3	4
Adventure novels	8	2	6
Anime	1	-	1
Classic novels	2	-	2
Classics	11	4	7
Comics	1	-	1
Contemporary books	2	2	-
Crime	3	-	3
Crime novels	3	1	2
Detective	20	5	15
Detective novels	12	5	7
Drama	5	3	2
Fantastic	10	3	7
Fantastic novels	5	4	1
Historical novels	7	5	2
Horror	3	-	3
Horror novels	1	-	1
Modern classics	1	1	-
Mystery	2	1	1
Mythology	5	- 1	5
Novels	53	10	43
Philosophical novels	1	-	1
Poetry	15	5	10
Political novels	1	-	1
Psychological novels	6	1	5
Romance	6	3	3
Romance novels	7	1	6
Science fiction	22	5	17
Science fiction novels	3	2	1
Short stories	2	-	2
Story	9	2	7
Thriller	8	1	7
Thriller novels	1	-	1
Turkish classics	4	1	3
Turkish novels	2	1	1
Underground literature	1	-	1
Utopic	2	-	2
War novels	1	1	-
World classics	23	8	15
Youth novels	2	2	-
Total Number of Literary Key Words (N)	288	84	204
Total Number of Key Words (N)	393	121	272

As shown in Table 19, interestingly enough, the ratio of literary key words to the total number of key words was 84/121 (69,4%) for the DELL group and 204/272 (75,0%) for the ELT group. However, we should not be too quick to jump to the conclusion that the ELT group read relatively more literary texts than the DELL group because as mentioned above some participants might have been more elaborate in their answers and specify every kind of text they read while some others might have written only about literary text types or mentioned about only what they read most. Again, the quantitative section of the study might shed more light into the issue as students were asked to choose and rank the most popular types of text and themes they read.

The order of the most common key words for the type of literary texts and literary themes is almost the same for both groups. For the DELL group, "novel" was the most common key word: 10 out of 84 responses (11,9%) were "novel". "World classics" ranked second with 8 responses (9,5%) and "detective", "detective novels", "historical novels", "poetry" and science fiction shared the third rank with 5 responses (6,0%) each. For the ELT group, "novel" was the most common key word again with 43 out of 204 responses (21,1%), followed by "science fiction" with 17 responses (8,3%) and "detective" and "world classics" with 15 responses (7,4%) each.

4.1.2.5. Preferred Language in Reading

Reading in the target language is a very effective in learning a foreign language (Arıkan & Zorba, 2017; Yamashita, 2013; Krashen, 2004:) and a common practice in high-school foreign languages departments. Some participants stated that they used reading as a tool for improving English and better performance in the university entrance examination. One participant commented:

One of the things to which I devote my time most is reading. While I was preparing for the English section of the university entrance exam, I studied by reading English books instead of solving grammar questions. (Participant 190)

Previous research on EFL learners suggest that students prefer their native tongue for reading for pleasure but prefer English for academic work (Noor, 2011; Mokhtari & Sheorey, 1994). In this study, there were 21 participants who stated that they read in English, only 3 of whom were from the DELL group, which may be considered consistent with data obtained in Arıkan and Zorba's (2017) study which suggests that the majority of the students preferred to read in Turkish. However, a note of caution is due here since this does not necessarily mean that students did not read in English: they might have just seen this detail not worth mentioning. Thus, some likert scale questions were asked to the students in the quantitative part of the study, which will be discussed later.

In summary, the results of the qualitative section show that the DELL and ELT groups have similar reading habits despite some minor differences. Of the participants who specified the number of books they read in a specific time period, 81,8% of the DELL group and 84,4% of the ELT group fall into "strong reading habits" category according to Yılmaz's classification (2004) as they stated that they read at least 12 books a year. However, these data must be interpreted with caution because these percentages are not the proportions of the students who read at least 12 books annually to the whole group: these are the proportions of the students reading at least 12 books a year to the number of students who specified the number of books they read. With regard to the time they allocated for reading daily, "1 hour" was the most common response in total (28,6%), followed by "at least 30 minutes" (14,3%). There were 99 participants in total who talked about their attitudes towards reading and 95,7% of the DELL group students and 86,8% of the ELT group students had positive attitudes towards reading. As for the reasons for reading, to learn new things, the inherent pleasure of reading and personal development were the most common responses for both groups. It was also observed that the ELT group tended to be more pragmatic as their reasons for reading were more school related than the DELL group. Being busy studying for the university entrance exam and the intensity of the courses were the major reasons hindering reading habits for both groups. Both groups read novels most and the analysis of the key words in their papers reveal that the participants read mostly literary texts (73,3%) rather than non-literary texts types such as newspapers or magazines.

4.2. Results of the Quantitative Analysis

As mentioned earlier in the methodology section, a questionnaire was used as the data gathering instrument for the quantitative section of the study because a questionnaire enables the researcher to collect demographic, behavioral and attitudinal information at the same time (Dörnyei, 2007), which makes it a perfect fit for this study as the study investigates not only the reading behavior of the participants but also their attitudes towards reading. The first section of the questionnaire was devoted to demographic information about the participants. The second part inquired how much and what the participants read. The last section of the questionnaire had two likert scale sections, the first of which investigated the students' reasons for reading and the second one was about their past reading habits and attitudes. Again, the time period investigated was limited to the previous 5 year period before their enrollment in their graduate programs for the reasons aforementioned.

4.2.1. Choice of Department

As mentioned in the qualitative part of the study, this study is a mainly comparative study based on the first preferences of the participants in the university entrance examination. In

consequence, the reading habits of the students in the following sections will be analyzed according to the first preferences of the participants in the university entrance examination rather than their current departments. Accordingly, only the participants who preferred either ELL or ELT department as their first choices will be included in the remaining sections of the analysis, which reduces the sample to 271 participants in total (59 participants preferring DELL and 212 preferring ELT), which makes up 92,5% of the total number of participants in the study. It should also be noted that the number of participants in each section may be lower than 271 due to the fact that there may be some missing data in each section.

As shown in Table 20, most of the students attending DELL actually had ELT departments as their first choices: only 57 DELL students (29,5%) had DELL as their first choice whereas there were 119 DELL students (61,7%) whose first preferences were ELT departments in the university entrance exam. For students attending DELL, ELT and DELL choices were followed by Translation and Interpreting (4,7%) and American Culture and Literature (1,6%). One (0,5%) student preferred English Linguistics and 4 others (2,1%) preferred non-English majors. As for the participants attending ELT departments, almost all of the students preferred ELT departments: 93 ELT students' (93%) first preferences were ELT departments and there were two students each (2%) preferring DELL and Translation and Interpreting departments in addition to 3 other students (3%) who preferred non-English majors. It is also important to note that departmental choices of DELL students are more varied compared to ELT students.

Table 20: The First Choices of Students Attending DELL and ELT Departments in the University Entrance Exam

Current Department	1. Preference	N	%
	DELL	57	29,5
	ELT	119	61,7
	Translation and Interpreting	9	4,7
DELL	English Linguistics	1	0,5
	American Culture and Literature	3	1,6
	Other	4	2,1
	Total	193	100,0
	DELL	2	2,0
	ELT	93	93,0
ELT	Translation and Interpreting	2	2,0
	Other	3	3,0
	Total	100	100,0

When we look into the second preferences of the students attending DELL as shown in Table 21, we can see a reversal in the order of DELL and ELT preferences and there were 99 participants (52,7%) whose first preferences were DELL in contrast to 73 participants (38,8%) whose first choices were ELT departments, which may be partially be attributed to geographical reasons: ELT

departments generally have higher minimum scores than ELL departments and it is probable that some students preferred ELT departments as their first choices and DELL departments as their second choices in the same city or nearby provinces. 8 participants attending DELL preferred Translation and Interpreting and there were 2 participants each preferring English Linguistics and American Culture and Literature departments and the second choices of the other 4 participants were non-English majors. When the second preferences of the participants attending ELT departments are analyzed, it can be seen that an overwhelming majority of the participants' second choices were ELT departments again: 79 participants (84%) specified that their second choices were ELT departments and only 9 (9,6%) students preferred DELL as their second choice. 2 participants (2,1%) preferred Translation and Interpretation and the other 4 students preferred non-English majors.

Table 21: The Second Choices of Students Attending DELL and ELT Departments in the University Entrance Exam

Current Department	2. Preference	N	%
	DELL	99	52,7
	ELT	73	38,8
	Translation and Interpretation	8	4,3
DELL	English Linguistics	2	1,1
	American Culture and Literature	2	1,1
	Other	4	2,1
	Total	188	100,0
	DELL	9	9,6
	ELT	79	84,0
ELT	Translation and Interpretation	2	2,1
	Other	4	4,3
	Total	94	100,0

4.2.2. Education Levels of the Participants' Parents

When the education levels of the participants' fathers are analyzed according to Table 22, it can be seen that the most common educational level for DELL group was "secondary school" with 38,6%, followed by "high school" with 31,6% and "primary school" with 14% while it was "high school" for ELT group with 29,4%, followed by "secondary school" with 25,1% and "primary school" with 23,2%. 12,3% of the DELL group students' fathers were graduates of universities while the percentage was 20,9% for the ELT group. However, we must be cautious to interpret this discrepancy in the percentages of university graduates of both groups as the superior educational level on behalf of ELT groups' fathers because it is offset by the higher percentage of ELT group's fathers' "primary school" percentage to a great extent. Nonetheless, we can argue that educational

levels of the ELT group students' fathers are more evenly distributed compared to their DELL counterparts.

Table 22: Education Levels of the Participants' Fathers

Preference	Education Level	N	%
DELL	Primary School	8	14,0
	Secondary School	22	38,6
	High School	18	31,6
	University	7	12,3
	MA	2	3,5
	Total	57	100,0
ELT	None	2	0,9
	Primary School	49	23,2
	Secondary School	53	25,1
	High School	62	29,4
	University	44	20,9
	MA	1	0,5
	Total	211	100,0

It is apparent from Table 23 that the education levels of the participants' mothers are lower than those of their fathers. The most common education level for DELL group participants' mothers was "secondary school" (29,8%), followed by "primary school" (28,1%) and "high school" (19,3%) while it was "primary school" (36,5%) for the ELT group students' mothers, followed by "secondary school" (25,6%) and "high school" (22,3%). The levels of education seem more or less similar for both groups again.

Table 23: Education Levels of the Participants' Mothers

Preference	Education Level	N	%
	None	5	8,8
	Primary School	16	28,1
	Secondary School	17	29,8
DELL	High School	11	19,3
	University	7	12,3
	MA	1	1,8
	Total	57	100,0
	None	16	7,6
	Primary School	77	36,5
Tal de	Secondary School	54	25,6
ELT	High School	47	22,3
	University	17	8,1
	Total	212	100

4.2.3. Reading Habits of DELL and ELT Group Students

4.2.3.1. The Amount of Reading by the DELL and the ELT Groups

It can be seen from the data in Table 24 that interestingly, the order of the options from the most common to the least common is exactly the same and the percentages are very similar for both groups: "30-60 minutes" (36,2% for the DELL group and 32,1% for the ELT group) is the most common category followed by "1-2 Hours" (25,9% for the DELL group and 27,4% for the ELT group), "0-30 minutes" (22,4% for the DELL group and 26,4% for the ELT group), "2-3 hours" (8,6% for the DELL group and 9,9% for the ELT group) and "3 hours or more" (6,9% for the DELL group and 4,2% for the ELT group) in that particular order. These results are in agreement with Yılmaz et al. (2009) and Odabaş et al. (2008) studies which showed that 30-60 minutes and 1-2 hours were by far the most common responses.

Table 24: The Time Allocated for Reading

Preference	Time Allocated	N	%
	0-30 Minutes	13	22,4
	30-60 Minutes	21	36,2
DELL	1-2 Hours	15	25,9
DELL	2-3 Hours	5	8,6
	3 Hours and More	4	6,9
	Total	58	100,0
	0-30 Minutes	56	26,4
	30-60 Minutes	68	32,1
ELT	1-2 Hours	58	27,4
ELI	2-3 Hours	21	9,9
	3 Hours and More	9	4,2
	Total	212	100,0

Table 25 shows that the results of the Mann-Whitney U test suggest that there is no statistically significant relationship between the participants' choice of department and the time they allocated for reading.

Table 25: Mann-Whitney U Test Results for the Time Allocated for Reading

Group	n	Mean Rank	Sum of Ranks	U	p
DELL	58	138,84	8052,50	5954,500	,703
ELT	212	134,59	28532,50	3934,300	,703

As can be seen in Table 26, the most frequent responses for the number of books read each year are also strikingly similar. For the DELL group, the most common answer is 10 books each year (27,1%), followed by 5 books each year (13,6%) and 30 books each year (10,2%) and for the ELT group, 10 books annually was the most common response (14,4%), followed by 5 books annually (11,4%) and 3 books annually (7,5%).

Table 26: The Number of Books Read Annually

Preference	Number of Books	N	0/0
	1,00	1	1,7
	2,00	1	1,7
	3,00	2	3,4
	4,00	1	1,7
	5,00	8	13,6
	6,00	1	1,7
	7,00	2	3,4
	8,00	4	6,8
	9,00	1	1,7
	10,00	16	27,1
	11,00	1	1,7
DELL	12,00	1	1,7
	13,00	1	1,7
	17,00	1	1,7
	20,00	5	8,5
	24,00	1	1,7
	25,00	2	3,4
	30,00	6	10,2
	35,00	1	1,7
	40,00	1	1,7
	50,00	1	1,7
	90,00	1	1,7
	Total	59	100,0
	1,00	6	3,0
	2,00	12	6,0
	3,00	15	7,5
	4,00	11	5,5
	5,00	23	11,4
	6,00	9	
	7,00	9	4,5 4,5
	8,00	7	
	9,00	3	3,5 1,5
		29	
	10,00		14,4
	12,00	7 3	3,5
	13,00		1,5
	14,00	1 14	,5
	15,00		7,0
	17,00	1	,5
T. T. T.	20,00	13	6,5
ELT	21,00	1	,5
	24,00	2	1,0
	25,00	1	,5 2.5
	30,00	7	3,5
	33,00	1	,5
	35,00	3	1,5
	40,00	8	4,0
	48,00	1	,5
	50,00	3	1,5
	60,00	2	1,0
	70,00	2	1,0
	72,00	1	,5
	100,00	2	1,0
	120,00	1	,5
	144,00	1	,5
	150,00	2	1,0
	Total	201	100,0

When we apply Yılmaz's (2004) classification of reading habits into three broad categories, 22% of the DELL group fall into poor reading habits category (up to 5 books annually), 42,4% of them fall into average reading habits category (between 6-11 books annually) and the remaining 35,6% fall into strong reading habits category (12 or more books annually) while for the ELT group, these percentages are 33,3%, 28,4% and 38,3% for the poor, average and strong reading habits categories respectively. These findings is contrary to previous studies by Yılmaz et al. (2009) and Odabaş et al. (2008) which have suggested that majority of the participants fell into poor reading habits category.

Table 27 shows that the means of the number of the books read annually for the DELL group (15,1864) and the ELT group (16,9353) are very close and an independent samples t-test yielded no statistically significant difference between the two groups. Overall, these results indicate that both groups are very similar in terms of the number of books they read each year.

Table 27: Independent T-test Results for the Number of Books Read Annually

Group	n	$\bar{\mathbf{X}}$	S	sd	t	p
DELL	59	15,19	14,43	258	520	507
ELT	201	16,93	24,10	238	-,530	,597

4.2.3.2. What Students Read

Table 28 illustrates that the most commonly read text type is novel by far for both groups: 77,6% of the DELL group participants and 72,2% of the ELT group participants reported that they read novels most. These results are in agreement with those obtained by Erdem (2015), Akarsu and Dariyemez (2014) and Ögeyik and Akyay (2009) which suggested that novels were the most popular type of text read. Fables, personal development books and scientific writings were the other popular text types with 3,4% each for the DELL group while personal development books (5,2%) and psychology books (3,8%) were the other popular first choices of the ELT group. As mentioned in the qualitative section of the study, although novel was the most common key word for the text types they read, responses such as "action" and "action novels" or "adventure" and "adventure novels", were categorized under different categories because it was not clear whether they meant novels or stories by specifying "action" or "adventure". However, these results suggest that it is highly probable that a great majority of the participants meant novels by specifying these themes although they did not write "novels".

Table 28: The Most Commonly Read Text Types (1. Choices)

Preference	Type of Text	N	%
	Novel	45	77,6
	Fable	2	3,4
	Personal development	2	3,4
	Scientific writings	2	3,4
	Story	1	1,7
DELI	Drama	1	1,7
DELL	Mythology	1	1,7
	Biography	1	1,7
	Article	1	1,7
	Psychology books	1	1,7
	Course materials	1	1,7
	Total	58	100,0
	Novel	153	72,2
	Personal development	11	5,2
	Psychology books	8	3,8
	Course materials	11 8 7 6	3,3
	Story	6	2,8
	History books	6	2,8
	Newspaper	4	1,9
	Mythology	3	1,4
ELT	Philosophy books	3	1,4
ELI	Article	2	,9
	Religious books	2	,9
	Scientific writings	2	,9
	Poetry	1	,5
	Biography	1	,5
	Essay	1	,5
	None	1	,5
	Other	1	,5
	Total	212	100,0

As the vast majority of the participants pointed out that they read novels most, looking into their second choices might give us a better of idea of what other types of texts they read most. As can be seen from Table 29, apart from the "novel" category, the most popular text types for the DELL group are stories (19%), magazines (13,8%), history books (8,6%) and personal development books (8,6%) while for the ELT group, stories (16,9%), psychology books (10,6%), personal development books (8,2%) and poetry (8,2%) were the most popular second choices apart from novels.

Table 29: The Most Commonly Read Text Types (2. Choices)

Preference	Type of Text	N	%
	Story	11	19,0
	Magazine	8	13,8
	History books	5	8,6
	Personal development	5	8,6
	Mythology	4	6,9
	Novel	4	6,9
	Poetry	4	6,9
	Article	3	5,2
DELL	Essay	3	5,2
	Psychology books	3	5,2
	Drama	2	3,4
	Philosophy books	2	3,4
	Newspaper	1	1,7
	Scientific writings	1	1,7
	Political books	1	1,7
	Course materials	1	1,7
	Total	58	100,0
	Story	35	16,9
	Psychology books	22	10,6
	Novel	21	10,1
	Personal development	17	8,2
	Poetry	17	8,2
	History books	14	6,8
	Magazine	12	5,8
	Scientific writings	10	4,8
	Biography	7	3,4
	Essay	7	3,4
ELT	Philosophy books	7	3,4
	Article	6	2,9
	Course materials	6	2,9
	Mythology	6	2,9
	Political books	6	2,9
	Newspaper	5	2,4
	Fable	3	1,4
	Religious books	2	1,0
	Drama	1	,5
	Other	3	1,4
	Total	207	100,0

In accordance with Quinn's (2006) definition, poetry, fiction and drama were considered as literary works as a working definition as mentioned earlier and the results of both qualitative and the quantitative sections of the study suggest that literary texts, particularly novels constitute the bulk of what DELL and ELT students read. Literary genres such as novel, story, poetry, drama,

fable and mythology make up 86,2% of the first choices and 43,1% of the second choices of DELL group whereas they make up 76,9% of the first choices and 40,1% of the second choices of the ELT group students. In the light of these findings it might be argued that the DELL group students are slightly more inclined to read literary text types compared to the ELT group although there were not any statistically significant differences between the two groups according to the results of the Mann-Whitney U test.

As discussed above, novels were by far the most commonly read literary genre and stories were also among the most common and when we analyze the most commonly read novel or story themes, it can be seen from the data in Table 30 that science-fiction (20,7%) and world classics (15,5%) are by far the most common responses for the most commonly read novel or story themes for DELL group, followed by adventure (8,6%). For the ELT group, the results are somewhat different: romance and world classics share the first rank (12,4%), followed by adventure with a very close percentage (11,9%). Crime (9,5%) and science-fiction (9,5%) were also popular first choices for ELT group.

Table 30: The Most Commonly Read Novel or Story Themes (1. Choices)

Preference	Theme	N	%
	Science-fiction	12	20,7
	World classics	9	15,5
	Adventure	5	8,6
	Romance	4	6,9
	Crime	4	6,9
	Drama	4	6,9
	Mystery	3	5,2
	Historical	3	5,2
	Psychological	3	5,2
DELL	Social	3	5,2
	Action	1	1,7
	Detective	1	1,7
	Suspense	1	1,7
	Horror	1	1,7
	Fantastic	1	1,7
	Philosophical	1	1,7
	Turkish classics	1	1,7
	Other	1	1,7
	Total	58	100,0
	Romance	26	12,4
	World classics	26	12,4
	Adventure	25	11,9
	Crime	20	9,5
	Science-fiction	20	9,5
	Detective	15	7,1
	Fantastic	10	4,8
	Psychological	10	4,8
	Turkish classics	9	4,3
	Horror	8	3,8
THE OTHER	Drama	6	2,9
ELT	Historical	6	2,9
	Mystery	6	2,9
	Suspense	5	2,4
	Philosophical	4	1,9
	Social	4	1,9
	Action	3	1,4
	Biographic	2	1,0
	Religious	1	,5
	None	1	,5
	Other	3	1,4
	Total	210	100,0

When the second choices of the DELL group participants are analyzed according to Table 31, it can be seen that adventure (13,8%), crime (10,3%), science fiction (10,3%) and historical (8,6%) novels or stories are the most common themes. As for the ELT group, science-fiction (10,2%), crime (9,2%), adventure (8,7%) and romance (7,8%) are the most common themes in this particular order. The Mann-Whitney U test yielded no significant statistical difference between the two groups in terms of the novel or story themes read.

Table 31: The Most Commonly Read Novel or Story Themes (2. Choices)

Preference	Theme	N	%
	Adventure	8	13,8
	Crime	6	10,3
	Science-fiction	6	10,3
	Historical	5	8,6
	Drama	4	6,9
	Fantastic	4	6,9
	Romance	3	5,2
	Philosophical	3	5,2
	Psychological	3	5,2
DELL	Social	3	5,2
DELL	Turkish classics	3	5,2
	World classics	3	5,2
	Action	2	3,4
	Biographic	1	1,7
	Detective	1	1,7
	Mystery	1	1,7
	Religious	1	1,7
	Suspense	1	1,7
	Total	58	100,0
	Science-fiction	21	10,2
	Crime	19	9,2
	Adventure	18	8,7
	Romance	16	7,8
	Historical	15	7,3
	Psychological	15	7,3
	World classics	15	7,3
	Drama	13	6,3
	Detective	12	5,8
ELT	Turkish classics	12	5,8
ELI	Mystery	10	4,9
	Suspense	8	3,9
	Action	7	3,4
	Religious	6	2,9
	Social	6	2,9
	Fantastic	5	2,4
	Philosophical	4	1,9
	Biographic	3	1,5
	Horror	1	,5
	Total	206	100,0

4.2.3.3. How the Books are Obtained

As can be seen in Table 32, the number of total responses were more than the total number of the participants who answered this question (N=271) because they were allowed to select more than one item and the result indicate that in accord with recent studies indicating that purchasing books is the by far the most common way of obtaining books to read (Erdem, 2015; Yılmaz et al., 2009), out of the 271 students in total, 224 (82,7%) indicated that they buy the books they read as shown in Table 32. 128 (47,2%) participants specified that they borrowed books from libraries. Furthermore, borrowing from others was the third most common way of obtaining books to read with 97 (35,8%) responses. The number of the participants who read e-books was limited to only 46 (17%), which is very surprising considering that we are living in an age of digital technology and that many university libraries are offering a wide array of electronic books.

Table 32: How the Books are Obtained

Method of Obtaining Books	N	%
By purchasing	224	82,7
From libraries	128	47,2
By borrowing from others	97	35,8
As e-books	46	17
Other	2	0,7
Total Number of Responses (N=271)	497	100

4.2.3.4. Reasons for Reading, Reasons Hindering Reading and School and Family Influence on Reading Habits

It can be seen from the data in Table 33 that the arithmetic mean scores for both groups are remarkably close. For the DELL group, the item with the highest positive responses was item 1, "I read because I enjoyed reading." (93,2%). Item 7, "I read in order to gain different perspectives." (91,5%) and item 9, "I read in order to broaden my horizon." (81,4%) were the second and third items with the most positive responses. The items with the highest negative percentages were item 12, "I read in order to follow technological developments." (37,9%), item 8, "I read in order to improve my self-awareness." (32,7%) and item 3, "I read in order to overcome boredom." (26,3%) respectively.

Table 33: Reasons for Reading

	Strongly disagree (1)		Disagree (2)		Neutral (3)		Agree (4)		Strongly agree (5)		Mean	Mann-Whitney	
Reason	Group	N	%	N	%	N	%	N	%	N	%	x	p
1. Enjoying reading	DELL	1	1,7	1	1,7	2	3,4	10	16,9	45	76,3	4,64	,028
	ELT	16	7,5	13	6,1	11	5,2	39	18,4	133	62,7	4,23	,
2. To relieve stress	DELL	4	6,9	6	10,3	3	5,2	22	37,9	23	39,7	3,93	,927
	ELT	13	6,1	20	9,4	29	13,7	61	28,8	89	42	3,91	
3. To overcome boredom	DELL	7	12,3	8	14	10	17,5	19	33,3	13	22,8	3,40	,927
	ELT	22	10,4	32	15,1	43	20,3	63	29,7	52	24,5	3,43	
4. To make use of my spare time	DELL	6	10,2	3	5,1	9	15,3	19	32,2	22	37,3	3,81	,974
	ELT	17	8,1	19	9	26	12,3	71	33,6	78	37	3,82	
5. To increase my knowledge	DELL	2	3,4	2	3,4	9	15,5	11	19	34	58,6	4,26	,418
	ELT	12	5,7	14	6,6	22	10,4	53	25,1	110	52,1	4,11	
6. For personal development	DELL	5	8,5	4	6,8	4	6,8	8	13,6	38	64,4	4,19	,338
7. To gain different perspectives	ELT	12	5,7	13	6,2	23	10,9	49	23,2	114	54	4,14	
	DELL	2	3,4	0	0	3	5,1	14	23,7	40	67,8	4,53	,251
	ELT	10	4,7	7	3,3	22	10,4	41	19,4	131	62,1	4,31	
8. To improve my self-awareness	DELL ELT	9 12	15,5 5,7	10 32	17,2 15,1	11 58	18,6	8 48	13,8 22,6	20 62	34,5 29,2	3,34 3,55	,454
					-		27,4			40		1	-
9. To broaden my horizon	DELL ELT	13	3,4 6,2	9	5,1 4,3	6 22	10,2 10,4	8 54	13,6 25,6	113	67,8 53,6	4,37 4,16	,098
	DELL	3	5,2	7	12,1	9	15,5	14	24,1	25	43,1	3,88	
10. To get away from the real world	ELT	20	9,5	18	8,6	38	18,1	39	18,6	95	45,2	3,81	,911
	DELL	4	6,9	2	3,4	8	13,8	20	34,5	24	41,4	4	
11. To improve my imagination	ELT	13	6,2	25	11,8	25	11,8	44	20,9	104	49,3	3,95	,804
	DELL	14	24,1	8	13,8	18	31	12	20,7	6	10,3	2,79	
12. To follow technology	ELT	56	26,5	45	21,3	42	19,9	44	20,9	24	11,4	2,69	,597
	DELL	5	8,5	2	3,4	8	13,6	9	15,3	35	59,3	4,14	
13. To improve comprehension	ELT	20	9,5	15	7,1	19	9	58	27,5	99	46,9	3,95	,196
	DELL	2	3,4	3	5,1	6	10,2	11	18,6	37	62,7	4,32	
14. To improve my interpretation	ELT	12	5,7	16	7,5	22	10,4	55	25,9	107	50,5	4,08	,114
	DELL	3	5,2	3	5,2	11	19	9	15,5	32	55,2	4,10	
15. To gain critical thinking skills	ELT	15	7,1	26	12,3	26	12,3	51	24,2	93	44,1	3,86	,169
	DELL	2	3,4	2	3,4	10	16,9	14	23,7	31	52,5	4,19	
16. To improve my language skills	ELT	16	7,6	10	4,7	30	14,2	43	20,4	112	53,1	4,07	,783
15 m ·	DELL	2	3,4	7	12,1	9	15,5	14	24,1	26	44,8	3,95	
17.To improve my foreign language	ELT	26	12,3	17	8,1	24	11,4	52	24,6	92	43,6	3,79	,636

The results for the ELT group were very similar to those of DELL group: the reason with the highest percentage of positive responses for the ELT group was Item 7, "I read in order to gain different perspectives." with 81,5%. The second and third items with the highest positive

percentages were item 1, "I read because I enjoyed reading." (81,1%) and item 9, "I read in order to broaden my horizon." (79,2%). The item with the highest negative percentage was item 12, "I read in order to follow technological developments." again (47,8%), followed by item 3 "I read in order to overcome boredom." (25,5%) and item 8 "I read in order to improve my self-awareness." (20,8)%). These findings are contrary to those of previous studies on EFL learners which have suggested that language related reasons were the most popular reasons for reading (Iftanti, 2012; Al-Nafisah et al., 2011; Camiciottoli: 2001).

Item 1 "I read because I enjoyed reading." was the only item with a statistically significant difference between the two groups according to Mann-Whitney two independent samples test, the results of which is shown in Table 34 (U: 5266, p= 0,028), and the percentage of the negative responses for this item was relatively higher on behalf of ELT students: 13,6% of the participants in ELT group either strongly disagreed or disagreed with the statement "I read because I enjoyed reading" while the percentage of the negative responses was just 3,4% for the DELL group.

Table 34: Mann-Whitney U Test Results for Item 1. (I Read Because I Enjoyed Reading.)

Group	n	Mean Rank	Sum of Ranks	U	р		
DELL	59	152,75	9012,00	5266,000	029		
ELT	212 131,34 27844,00		5266,000	,028			

When the reasons hindering reading are analyzed according to Table 35, it can be seen that "the internet and cellphones" were the most common response and the majority of the participants in both groups thought that the internet and cellphones hindered their reading: 57,1% of the DELL group and 57,6% of the ELT group regarded the internet and cell phones as hindrances to their reading in contrast to the findings of previous research (Erdem, 2015; Ögeyik &, Akyay 2009; Camiciottoli, 2001) which suggested that the intensity of studies was the most common reason limiting reading. A likely explanation for this discrepancy might be the growing influence of smartphones on our lives today compared to the past when traditional cellphones were not so influential. Nonetheless, 56,2% of the DELL group and 42,4% of the ELT group considered university entrance examination as a major factor which interfered with their reading habits. However, it should also be noted that 44,3% of the ELT group' responses were strongly disagree or disagree for the item that states that university entrance examination negatively influenced their reading habits, which suggest that there is a split in opinion on this issue as in the qualitative section of the study, in which some participants stated that they read to prepare for the university entrance exam while some others said the exam hampered their reading habits.

Table 35: Reasons Hindering Reading

		Strongly disagree (1)		Disagree (2)		Neutral (3)		Agree (4)		Strongly agree (5)		Mean	Mann-Whitney
Reason	Group	N	%	N	%	N	%	N	%	N	%	X	р
1. Getting bored	DELL	36	63,2	10	17,5	6	10,5	3	5,3	2	3,5	1,68	.066
1. Getting bored	ELT	112	52,8	25	11,8	38	17,9	25	11,8	12	5,7	2,06	,000
2. University entrance exam	DELL	13	22,8	3	5,3	9	15,8	9	15,8	23	40,4	3,46	.051
	ELT	66	31,1	28	13,2	28	13,2	28	13,2	62	29,2	2,96	,031
3. Courses	DELL	11	19,3	8	14	10	17,5	15	26,3	13	22,8	3,19	.102
	ELT	67	31,9	33	15,7	30	14,3	33	15,7	47	22,4	2,81	,102
4. Lack of time	DELL	11	19,3	8	14	13	22,8	11	19,3	14	24,6	3,16	,340
4. Lack of time	ELT	48	22,9	31	14,8	47	22,4	50	23,8	34	16,2	2,96	
5. Lack of money to buy books	DELL	33	58,9	4	7,1	8	14,3	6	10,7	5	8,9	2,4	,416
5. Lack of money to buy books	ELT	104	49,3	38	18	24	11,4	26	12,3	19	9	2,14	,410
6. Inadequate use of libraries	DELL	21	36,8	8	14	11	19,3	9	15,8	8	14	2,56	,676
o. madequate use of noraries	ELT	85	40,1	24	11,3	43	20,3	38	17,9	22	10,4	2,48	,070
7. TV	DELL	20	35,7	6	10,7	9	16,1	10	17,9	11	19,6	2,75	.691
/. I V	ELT	81	38,6	27	12,9	26	12,4	36	17,1	40	19	2,65	,071
8. Internet and cellphones	DELL	9	16,1	4	7,1	11	19,6	12	21,4	20	35,7	3,54	.602
	ELT	42	19,8	20	9,4	28	13,2	54	25,5	68	32,1	3,41	,002
9. Busy social life	DELL	16	28,1	9	15,8	15	26,3	6	10,5	11	19,3	2,77	.798
7. Dusy social file	ELT	71	33,5	27	12,7	43	20,3	31	14,6	40	18,9	2,73	,170

For almost half of the DELL group (49,1%), the third most highly-rated factor which impeded their reading was their courses. By contrast, for the ELT group, the total percentage of strongly disagree and disagree responses for this item was 47,6% and only 38,1% of the ELT group participants saw their courses as a hindrance. The data also suggest that most of the participants are not of the opinion that getting bored while reading or not having enough money to buy books interfered with their reading habits much: 63,2% of the DELL group's and 52,8% of the ELT group's responses for the former and 58,9% of the DELL group's and 49,3% of the ELT group's responses for the latter were "strongly disagree".

When the school and family influences are investigated in the light of the information in Table 36, what stands out in the table is that teacher influence seems to be more influential in students' reading habits than family influence: to the item "My family members were instrumental in developing my reading habit", only 28,1% of the DELL and 34% of the ELT group responded positively whereas to the item "My teachers were instrumental in developing my reading habit", the percentages were 49,2% and 52,4% respectively. Furthermore, 54,4% of DELL and 58,9% of ELT group indicated that their family members encouraged them to read in contrast with 70,2% of

the DELL group and 71,6% of the ELT group, who stated that their teachers encouraged them to read. These findings accord with the findings of the qualitative section of the study, where teachers were found to be more influential than families as also suggested by previous research findings (Al-Nafisah et al., 2011; Yılmaz, 2004).

Table 36: School and Family Influence on Reading Habits

		Strongly disagree (1)		Disagree (2)		Neutral (3)		Agree (4)		Strongly agree (5)		Mean	Mann-Whitney
Item	Group	N	%	N	%	N	%	N	%	N	%	$\overline{\mathbf{x}}$	p
1. My family members read books.	DELL	14	24,6	11	19,3	11	19,3	14	24,6	7	23,3	2,81	,553
1. Wry family members read books.	ELT	64	30,2	45	21,2	28	31,2	43	20,3	32	15,1	2,69	
2. My family members read to me.	DELL	27	47,4	6	10,5	8	14	10	17,5	6	10,5	2,33	,568
2. Wry family members read to me.	ELT	91	42,7	29	13,7	29	13,7	31	14,6	32	15,1	2,45	
3. My family was instrumental in my	DELL	20	35,1	6	10,5	15	26,3	13	22,8	3	5,3	2,53	,752
reading habit.	ELT	81	38,2	31	14,4	28	13,2	32	15,1	40	18,9	2,62	
4. My teachers were instrumental in my	DELL	15	26,3	3	5,3	11	19,3	12	21,1	16	28,1	3,19	,668
reading habit.	ELT	38	18,1	21	10	41	19,5	56	26,7	57	25,7	3,32	
5 M 6 3	DELL	6	10,5	10	17,5	10	17,5	14	24,6	17	29,8	3,46	,951
5. My family encouraged me to read.	ELT	44	20,8	11	5,2	32	15,1	63	29,7	62	29,2	3,42	
	DELL	2	3,5	9	15,8	6	10,5	17	29,8	23	40,4	3,88	,849
6. My teachers encouraged me to read.	ELT	22	10,4	13	6,2	25	11,8	61	28,9	90	42,7	3,87	
7. Reading hours were instrumental in my	DELL	21	36,8	7	12,3	8	14	8	14	13	22,8	2,74	501
reading habit.	ELT	64	30,5	28	13,3	35	16,7	33	15,7	50	23,8	2,89	,501

Another interesting finding of the study was that only 47,9% of the DELL group pointed out that their family members read books and the percentage was even lower for the ELT group with 35,4%. Additionally, only 28% of the DELL group and 29,7% of the ELT group remarked that they were read to by their parents when they were children, which is very close to the percentage (29,1%) found by Yılmaz (2004). The evidence from this study might suggest that although parents were generally supportive of the reading behavior of their children, they did not lead by example. It is also important to note that there was no statistically significant difference between the DELL and the ELT groups in relation to the items in Table 36.

4.2.3.5. Attitudes towards Reading

The most striking result to emerge from the data in Table 37 below is that for all the items in the table inquiring the participants' attitudes towards reading, apart from item 7, "I did not like reading, which was negatively worded, the percentage of positive responses and mean scores were

higher for the DELL group. 84,2% of the DELL group, in contrast to the ELT group's 72%, either agreed or strongly agreed with the item "I loved reading". Furthermore, the responses given to the negatively worded item "I did not like reading" were similar: 80,7% of the DELL group and 68,7% of the ELT group either strongly disagreed or disagreed with statement. 77,2% of the DELL group and 76,8% of the ELT group thought that reading is a need. Overall, these results indicate that both groups' attitudes towards reading were positive as also suggested by pervious literature (Erdem, 2015; Iftanti, 2012; Ögeyik & Akyay, 2009; Yılmaz et al., 2009; Camiciottoli, 2001). However, it should be noted that, as in the qualitative section of the study, on the negative end of the continuum, the percentages are largely disproportionate: 9,5% of the ELT group strongly disagreed with the item "I loved reading" and another 8,5% disagreed with it whereas the percentages for the DELL group was 1,8% and 5,3% respectively for the same item. The same situation can also be seen in the negatively worded item 7, "I did not like reading: again 9,5 % of the ELT group strongly agreed with the item and another 8,5% agreed with it while only 5,3% of the DELL groups strongly agreed and another 5,3% agreed with it. Moreover, 59,7% of the DELL group and 59,5% of the ELT group replied negatively to item 8, "I read e-books".

Table 37: Attitudes towards Reading

		Strongly disagree	(1)		Disagree (2)		Neutral (3)		Agree (4)	į	Strongly agree (5)	Mean	Mann-Whitney
Item	Group	N	%	N	%	N	%	N	%	N	%	$\overline{\mathbf{x}}$	p
1 11 1 1:	DELL	1	1,8	3	5,3	5	8,8	16	28,1	32	56,1	4,32	122
1. I loved reading.	ELT	20	9,5	18	8,5	21	10	48	22,7	104	49,3	3,94	,122
2. I was interested in literature.	DELL	3	5,3	4	7	15	26,3	16	28,1	19	33,3	3,77	,005
2. I was interested in literature.	ELT	39	18,4	36	17	32	15,1	62	29,2	43	20,3	3,16	,003
2 [4]:::1. [1] - 1	DELL	5	8,8	5	8,8	17	29,8	12	21,1	18	31,6	3,58	515
3. I think I had a habit of reading.	ELT	30	14,2	32	15,1	42	19,8	36	17	72	34	3,42	,545
4 Tabin I d b	DELL	11	19,3	11	19,3	17	29,8	12	21,1	6	10,5	2,84	214
4. I think I read enough.	ELT	62	29,4	40	19	47	22,3	31	14,7	31	14,7	2,66	,314
5 1.1 1. 1. 1	DELL	4	7	1	1,8	8	14	9	15,8	35	61,4	4,23	262
5. I thought reading is a need.	ELT	14	6,6	11	5,2	24	11,4	55	26,1	107	50,7	4,09	,263
6. My reading habit was instrumental in	DELL	12	21,1	7	12,3	7	12,3	14	24,6	17	29,8	3,30	021
my departmental choice.	ELT	58	27,5	46	21,8	34	16,1	29	13,7	44	20,9	2,79	,031
7 1 414 4 111 411-	DELL	39	68,4	7	12,3	5	8,8	3	5,3	3	5,3	1,67	000
7. I did not like reading.	ELT	122	57,8	23	10,9	28	13,3	18	8,5	20	9,5	2,01	,099
0 1 1 - 1 - 1 - 1	DELL	27	47,4	7	12,3	7	12,3	8	14	8	14	2,35	0.716
8. I read e-books.	ELT	93	44,3	32	15,2	21	10	31	14,8	33	15,7	2,42	0,716

When the participants' self-evaluations of their reading habits are analyzed, it can be seen that the percentages are very close: 52,7% of the DELL group and 51% of the ELT group think that they had a habit of reading. All the same, only 31,6% of the DELL group participants and 29,4% of the ELT group students think that they read enough. Despite the fact that DELL group's attitudes towards reading are more positive than the ELT group's for each item, only two items were found to be statistically significant according to Mann-Whitney U test results, namely the second item, "I was interested in literature" and the sixth item, "My habit of reading was instrumental in my decision to enroll in this department.".

Table 38: Mann-Whitney U Test Results for Item 2. (I was Interested in Literature.)

Group	n	Mean Rank	Sum of Ranks	U	p
DELL	57	160,21	9132,00	4605,000	005
ELT	212	128,22	27183,00	4603,000	,005

Table 39: Mann-Whitney U Test Results for Item 6. (My Habit of Reading was Instrumental in My Decision to Enroll in This Department.)

Group	n	Mean Rank	Sum of Ranks	U	р
DELL	58	153,74	8763,00	4917,000	021
ELT	211	129,30	27283,00	4917,000	,031

The descriptive statistics in Table 37 for items 2 and 6 suggest that 61,4 percent of the DELL group in contrast to the ELT group's 49,5% reported that they were interested in literature and 54,4% of the DELL and 34,6% of the ELT group indicated that their reading habits were instrumental in their choice of department.

4.2.3.6. Preferred Language in Reading

It is apparent from Table 40 that both groups are very homogeneous when it comes to their preferred language and their percentages and means are very similar and the Mann-Whitney U test did not yield any significant differences between the DELL and the ELT groups for the items concerning the preferred language while reading. It can be clearly seen from Table 40 that the vast majority of the students preferred to read in Turkish: 79% of the DELL group and 80% of the ELT group indicated that they preferred to read in Turkish, which is consistent with previous research findings which suggest that students prefer their native tongue for pleasure reading (Arıkan & Zorba, 2017; Noor, 2011; Mokhtari & Sheorey, 1994). Furthermore, the most striking result to emerge from the data is that although nearly half of the students agreed or strongly agreed with the statement that they loved reading books in English, the most commonly specified option was "neutral" for both groups and 32,1% of the DELL group and 27,8% of the ELT group were undecided about the item. These results differ from the findings presented by Ögeyik and Akyay

study, (2009) which suggested that more than two-thirds of the participants liked reading books in foreign languages. Considering how important reading in L2 is for learning foreign languages and their university education (Krashen, 2004; Camiciottoli, 2001), this result is astounding.

Table 40: Preferred Language in Reading

		Strongly disagree	(1)		Disagree (2)		Neutral (3)		Agree (4)	Strongly agree	(3)	Mean	Mann-Whitney
Item	Group	N	%	N	%	N	%	N	%	N	%	x	p
1. I mostly read in English	DELL	16	28,1	20	35,1	10	17,5	8	14	3	5,3	2,33	706
1. I mostly read in English.	ELT	74	35,1	58	27,5	33	15,6	33	15,6	13	6,2	2,30	,706
2. I mostly good in Typhich	DELL	2	3,5	4	7	6	10,5	12	21,1	33	57,9	4,23	165
2. I mostly read in Turkish.	ELT	18	8,6	14	6,7	10	4,8	59	28,1	109	51,9	4,08	,465
2. I loved reading books in English	DELL	8	14,3	3	5,4	18	32,1	12	21,4	15	26,8	3,41	961
3. I loved reading books in English .	ELT	25	11,8	23	10,8	59	27,8	55	25,9	50	23,6	3,39	,861

Overall, the results of the quantitative section of the study indicate that a comparison of the reading habits of students preferring ELL and ELT departments yielded very similar results and there was no statistically significant difference between the two groups in terms of the time they allocated for reading, the number of books they read, the types of text or literary texts and themes they preferred most, family and school influence on their reading habits, factors hindering their reading habits and the language they preferred in reading. It was also revealed that although an overwhelming majority of the participants had positive attitudes towards reading, most of them did not have strong reading habits and did not read a book monthly and the most common response to the time allocated for reading was "30-60 minutes daily". Novel was by far the most commonly read text type and the DELL group participants were found to have read science-fiction and world classics themes most while the ELT group preferred world classics and romance most. When their attitudes towards reading were investigated, the DELL group students were found to have had more positive attitudes on each item, yet, only two of the items were found to be statistically significant, namely "I was interested in literature" and "My habit of reading was instrumental in my decision to enroll in this department". 84,2% of the DELL group and 72% of the ELT group indicated that they loved reading. Enjoying reading, gaining different perspectives and broadening one's horizon were the most common reasons for reading for both groups, yet, only the first one was statistically significant. The participants were of the opinion that the internet and cell phones were the major hindrances to their reading followed by university entrance examination. Furthermore, the results also suggested that teachers were more influential in forming reading habits than families and the vast majority of both groups preferred to read in Turkish.

CONCLUSION AND IMPLICATIONS

As stated earlier, this study set out to investigate the past reading habits of students preferring to study at English Language and Literature departments and English Language Teaching departments comparatively prior to their entrance into their respective graduate programs. More specifically, it tried to find out how much they read, what they read, their reasons for reading or not reading, their attitudes towards reading and their preferred language in reading. Their preference at university entrance examination was used as the basis of comparison because it was thought that what they wanted to study was more important than what they were actually studying.

The current study is a mixed method study combining qualitative and quantitative approaches. The qualitative section of the study utilized life history method and the participants were asked to write about their past reading habits prior to their enrollment in their departments. In the quantitative section, a questionnaire was used to find out their past reading habits at a later time than the life history papers. Convenience sampling was utilized in the study and the sample consisted of DELL students from Atatürk University and Karadeniz Technical University and ELT students from Atatürk University and Trabzon University.

Research on reading habits is vital because reading is an indispensable part of human civilization and it is impossible for a society to progress without it (Grabe, 2009) and it is common sense to think that it is also a must for personal development as well. Accordingly, it will not a be far-fetched conclusion to assume that one of the main goals of education should be ensuring that students have good reading habits and this is more so for prospective teachers, who will in turn educate future generations: we cannot think of a qualified teacher with inadequate reading habits. However, the literature on the reading habits of university students in Turkey suggest that students do not have adequate reading habits (Arıkan & Zorba, 2017; Yılmaz et al., 2009: Odabaş et al., 2008) and the correct diagnosis of the problem is the first step towards an effective treatment. As a result, it is of the utmost importance to find out how much they read, what they read and the factors facilitating or inhibiting their reading.

English Language and Literature and English Language Teaching departments are the two main sources for the recruitment of English teachers in Turkey as indicated in the significance of the study section and there has been a lot of discussion between these two camps about qualifications and training necessary to become English teachers and to the best of this author's knowledge, there is a gap in this field and this study is the first one investigating the reading habits

of DELL and ELT students comparatively according to their choice of department in the university entrance examination. The amount of literature on the reading habits of Turkish EFL students is limited and it is hoped that this study will also contribute to the accumulation of knowledge in the field.

When the information accumulated through reading habits studies on English majoring students and students in other fields fit together like the pieces of a jigsaw puzzle, it might provide an invaluable opportunity for educators in their plans help students to form better reading habits on a micro level or on a macro level. For instance, on a micro level, knowing what literary themes their students generally like reading more might help in determining the books assigned for extensive reading and on a macro level knowing how reading hours influence students reading habits or how students regard them might change the policies of the Ministry of National Education (MEB). To make it more concrete, 33,7% of the participant in this study strongly disagreed with the item "The reading hours at school were instrumental in developing my reading habit" and 46,5% of their responses were negative in total as opposed to 38,2% positive responses in total. Of course, one preliminary study is far from providing enough data for a policy change on behalf of the Ministry of National Education; however, if the significant majority of further studies support the findings of the present study, the ministry might consider changing or modifying its policy on this matter.

With respect to the results of the study, the investigation of the number of books read annually has shown that only 35,6 % of the DELL group and 38,3% of the ELT group read at least one book a month. These results are in accord with previous research findings in Turkey which suggest that either just a bare majority of students read a book a monthly (Arıkan & Zorba, 2017; Erdem, 2015) or the majority read fewer books than one book monthly (Yılmaz et al., 2009; Odabaş et al., 2008). The time allocated for reading by both groups was also similar. "30-60 minutes" (36,2%) was the most common response by DELL group participants followed by "1-2 hours" with 25,9% percent. The order was the same for the ELT group: 32,1% of them specified that they read between 30-60 minutes and another 27,4% responded with "1-2 Hours". These results are also in line with the relevant literature (Yılmaz et al., 2009; Odabaş et al., 2008). Furthermore, there was no statistically significant difference between the ELT and the DELL groups in terms of the number of books they read or the time they allocated for reading.

Despite the findings suggesting that most of the participants did not have strong reading habits, both the qualitative and the quantitative data obtained in the study pointed out that an overwhelming majority of the students had positive attitudes towards reading. In the qualitative section, out of the 99 students who commented positively or negatively about reading, 95,7% of the DELL group students and 86,8% of the ELT group expressed positive feelings about reading while the percentages of negative responses were only 4,3% for the DELL group and 13,2% for the ELT

group. The results of the quantitative section further support these findings: 84,2% of the DELL group and 72% of the ELT group agreed with the statement "I loved reading". These results corroborate the findings of a great deal of the previous studies in the literature (Erdem, 2015; Iftanti, 2012; Yılmaz et al., 2009; Camiciottoli, 2001). One of the most striking results to emerge from the data is that for all the items investigating their attitudes, the means scores and percentages of positive responses were higher for the DELL group; however, only two of the items were found to be statistically significant, namely "I was interested in literature." and "My habit of reading was instrumental in my decision to enroll in this department.".

As regards the participants' reasons for reading, learning new things, intrinsic pleasure of reading and personal development were the most common reasons for both groups in the qualitative section of the study. In the quantitative section, the reasons were somewhat different, yet, the most common three items were the same again for both groups: enjoying reading, (93,2% for the DELL group and 81,1% for the ELT group), broadening one's horizon (81,4% for the DELL group and 79,2% for the ELT group) and gaining different perspectives (91,5% for the DELL group and 81,5% for the ELT group) were the most common responses. The only statistically significant item concerning the reasons for reading between the two groups was "I read because I enjoyed reading." according to the results of the Mann-Whitney U two independent samples test (U: 5266, p= 0,028). These findings are contrary to majority of the previous studies on EFL learners, which have suggested that reasons related to improving language related skills are the most prominent ones (Iftanti, 2012; Al-Nafisah et al., 2011; Camiciottoli: 2001). Furthermore, teacher influence was found to be a more important factor than family influence in developing reading habits.

As for the factors negatively affecting students' reading habits, university entrance exam was the most common reason given for inhibiting reading habits in the qualitative section. The intensity of the lessons also came to the fore as in the studies by Erdem (2015) and Camiciottoli (2001). Despite the fact that these two reasons were also prominent in the quantitative section, the response with the highest percentage of positive answers in the quantitative section was "The internet and cellphones negatively influenced my reading habit." (57,1% for the DELL group and 57,6% for the ELT group), which is interesting because not even a single student remembered to talk about it in the qualitative section of the study.

When we look into what students read most, both the qualitative and the quantitative results indicate that novel is by far the most popular type of text. The quantitative results suggest that it was the first choice of 77,6% of the DELL group students and 72,2% of the ELT group participants. Stories and personal development books were some of the other items coming to the fore. A thematic analysis of novel and story types read reveals that science fiction (20,7%), world classics (15,5%) and adventure (8,6%) were the most popular first options for DELL group

whereas romance (12,4%), world classics (12,4%) and adventure (11,9%) were the first preferences of the ELT group.

A considerable majority of the DELL group (79%) and the ELT group (80%) specified that they prefer to read in Turkish, which is consistent with the finding of previous studies which suggest that for pleasure reading, mother tongue is preferred (Arıkan & Zorba, 2017; Noor, 2011; Mokhtari & Sheorey, 1994). The majority of the participants' responses in both groups were either negative or neutral to the statement "I loved reading books in English." which is counterintuitive considering they are EFL students.

The findings of this study, combined with related literature, have a number of practical implications for a wide range of people and institutions connected with education including teachers, academicians, parents, libraries, the Ministry of National Education (MEB) and universities.

The results of the current study and some other studies (Erdem, 2015; Al-Nafisah et al., 2011; Yılmaz, 2004) suggest that teachers are more influential in students' forming good reading habits than families. Teachers or academicians should not only encourage students to read but also monitor their reading. As an instructor currently employed at an English Language and Literature department, who also worked at a high-school for 16 years, it is my personal experience that assigning students books to read for extensive reading, checking what they have read and providing incentives for their reading particularly during the initial stages greatly enhances their chances of forming good reading habits. Teachers or academicians should also put some extra effort into learning what their students like to read more as it may increase the chances of their success in developing better reading habits.

Although the families were found to be mostly supportive of their children's reading behavior, they did not seem to have much influence on their children's actual reading. One possible explanation for this might be the parents' own lack of adequate reading habits. They would probably have a more positive influence on their children's reading habits if they led by example. Taking their children to libraries and giving them books as presents might also help in developing good reading habits.

Libraries should follow the trends in students' reading preferences and update their collections accordingly. With the recent developments in technology, libraries offer lot of digital content to their users, which is very advantageous as it makes a wider range of books and other materials available more economically. However, print books still seem to be main preference of students for pleasure reading, so, libraries should enrich their collections with print books in line with their users' interests.

The ministry of National Education (MEB) and universities can also contribute a lot to the students' forming good reading habits. More compulsory and elective courses involving reading and literature can be included in their programs. Teaching students effective reading techniques or strategies might benefit students a lot. They could also provide incentives such as local or nationwide reading competitions or arrange autograph sessions.

University entrance examination was observed to be by far the most common reason interfering with reading in the qualitative section of this study and the second most common reason in the quantitative section. Intensity of the courses was also found to be an important factor hindering reading as also suggested by several other studies (Erdem, 2015; Ögeyik & Akyay, 2009; Camiciottoli, 2001). As mentioned earlier, I worked at a high-school for 16 years and it was my personal observation that particularly in the last year of high-school, the majority of the students only wanted elective courses from the subjects that were included in the university entrance exam and they even filled their weekends with supplementary courses for the university entrance exam, which limited their time for reading. They generally did not take courses that were not included in the university entrance exam seriously and they thought that these courses took their precious time away from their preparations for the university entrance exam, which is contrary to research findings suggesting that reading enhances academic success (McGeown et al., 2015; Krashen, 2004). It was also my personal experience that reading greatly enhances the success of social sciences students, and particularly EFL students in exams. I used to keep records of the books that our students in foreign languages departments read while I was working at a high-school and I witnessed time and again that the students success in the university entrance examination was almost directly proportional to the number of books they read: the ones who read more, got higher scores. Unfortunately, students are generally unaware of the benefits of reading and we should put more effort into showing them these benefits.

To sum up, reading is an indispensable part of not only academic life (Krashen, 2004; Mokhtari and Sheorey, 1994) but also intellectual, personal and social development (Kamalova & Koletvinova, 2016; Grabe, 2009). Furthermore, it is impossible to achieve a truly civilized society without adequate reading habits on behalf of its members as reading and literature appeal to conscience and wisdom just as maths and science appeal to reasoning. A joint effort by teachers, parents, the ministry of National Education (MEB) and universities is necessary for creating a society with good reading habits.

Despite the fact that the current study applies a mixed method approach in order to make use of the strengths of both research approaches, each has its own shortcomings. Life history method was used in the qualitative section of the study, which provides an in-depth insider perspective, yet, the respondents might have forgotten to mention some important points or have misunderstood the scope of the study (Erten, 2014: 40) because the subject was very broad and the subjects were not

given alternatives in order not to limit them. For instance, although the internet and cellphones were found to be the most common reasons hindering reading in the quantitative section of the present study, there was no mention of it in the qualitative section: the internet and cellphones might simply not have come to the participants' minds or most of them might have thought that they were supposed to write about school related reasons only. In the quantitative section of the study, a questionnaire was used, which might have limitations such as social desirability bias or self-deception (Dörnyei, 2003: 12-13). It is unfortunate that the study did not include a focus group interview or a semi-structured interview which could have compensated for the shortcomings of the data collection instruments in the study.

The scope of this study was limited in terms of the number of universities included and the number of participants. The present study was conducted with 298 participants for the qualitative section of the study and 294 participants for the quantitative section from 3 different universities in 2 different cities, namely Trabzon and Erzurum. Particularly for the quantitative section of the study, a larger sample from a number of different universities and departments might have yielded more generalizable results. This study is mainly a comparative one comparing the reading habits of the participants preferring DELL and ELT departments in the university entrance exam as their first choices because students' first preferences were thought to be a better predictor of what they wanted to study than what they were studying. However, there may be many additional uncontrolled factors contributing to their decisions about their first preferences in the university entrance exam such as minimum scores of the departments, social and economic conditions of the participants, geographical preferences and family influence. Further studies involving more universities or departments with higher or lower minimum scores could add more pieces to the puzzle and render a more complete evaluation of the subject possible. For instance, a study involving universities, where the minimum score for the DELL is higher than that for the ELT department unlike the universities investigated in the current study, might offer new insights to the issue. Furthermore, this study is a cross-sectional study, which takes a snapshot of the reading habits of the EFL students at the beginning of their higher education: in order to understand how university education influences students' reading habits better, it would be very useful to conduct longitudinal studies on the subject.

This is the first study in Turkey investigating the reading habits of students who preferred DELL or ELT departments in the university entrance exam comparatively and in spite of its limitations, the study certainly adds to our understanding of the reading habits of students who preferred DELL and ELT departments and how their reading habits affected their departmental choices. Furthermore, despite the fact that it is hard to draw general conclusions from this preliminary study, further studies not only in EFL or teacher education fields but also in other fields may provide invaluable information for educators and educational policy makers, which may guide them in their efforts to create generations with better reading habits. More research will also

give us up-to-date information about how changing trends such as how the internet, cellphones, e-books affect reading habits.

REFERENCES

- Akarsu, Oktay and Tevfik Dariyemez (2014) "The Reading Habits of University Students Studying English Language and Literature in the Digital Age", **Journal of Language and Linguistic Studies** 10(2), 85-99.
- Akyol, Hayati (1997), "Okuma ve Prensipleri", Çağdaş Eğitim, 233, 26-28.
- Al-Nafisah, Khaled et al. (2001), "Saudi EFL Students' Reading Interests", **Journal of King Saud University-Languages and Translation**, 23(1), 1-9.
- Arıkan, Arda and Zorba, Mehmet Galip (2017) "İngiliz Dili ve Edebiyatı Öğrencilerinin Okuma Alışkanlıkları", **Mehmet Akif Ersoy Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi**, 43, 51-63.
- Baldick, Chris (2001), **The Concise Oxford Dictionary of Literary Terms**, 2nd Ed., Oxford University Press, New York.
- Blaxter, Loraine et al. (2010), How to research, 4th Ed., McGraw-Hill Education, Glasgow.
- Braun, Virginia and Clarke, Victoria (2006), "Using Thematic Analysis in Psychology", **Qualitative Research in Psychology**, 3(2), 77-101.
- Cambridge Online Dictionary, "Read", https://dictionary.cambridge.org/dictionary/english/read (01.05.2019)
- Camiciottoli, Belinda Crawford (2001), Extensive Reading in English: Habits and Attitudes of a Group of Italian University EFL Students", **Journal of Research in Reading**, 24(2), 135-153.
- Chettri, Kushmeeta and Rout S.K. (2013), "Reading Habits-An Overview", **Journal of Humanities and Social Science**, 14(6), 13-17.
- Childs, Peter and Fowler, Roger (2006), **The Routledge Dictionary of Literary Terms**, 3rd Ed., Routledge, USA.
- Cohen et al. (2010), Research Methods in Education, 6th Ed., Routledge, U.S.A.
- Coşkun, Eyüp (2002) "Okumanın Hayatımızdaki Yeri ve Okuma Sürecinin Oluşumu", **Türklük Bilimi Araştırmaları**, 11, 231-244
- Dörnyei, Zoltán (2003), Questionnaires in Second Language Research: Construction, Administration, and Processing, Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, USA.

- _____ (2007), Research Methods in Applied Linguistics Quantitative, Qualitative, and Mixed Methodologies, 1st Ed., Oxford University Press, Spain.
- Dreyer, Carisma and Nel, Charl (2003), "Teaching Reading Strategies and Reading Comprehension within a Technology-Enhanced Learning Environment", **System**, 31(3), 349-365.
- Erdem, Aliye (2015), "A Research on Reading Habits of University Students: (Sample of Ankara University and Erciyes University)", **Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences**, 174, 3983-3990.
- Erten, Ismail Hakkı (2014), "Understanding the Reasons behind Choosing to Teach English as a Foreign Language", **Novitas-ROYAL** (**Research on Youth and Language**), 8(1), 30-44.
- Goody, Jack and Watt, Ian (1963), "The Consequences of Literacy", **Comparative Studies in Society and History**, 5(3), 304-345.
- Grabe, William (2009), **Reading in a Second Language: Moving from Theory to Practice,** 1st Ed., Cambridge University Press, USA.
- Grabe, William Peter and Stoller, Fredricka L. (2013) **Teaching and Researching: Reading**, 2nd Ed., Routledge, USA.
- Iftanti, Erna (2012), "A survey of the English Reading Habits of EFL Students in Indonesia", **Teflin Journal** 23(2), 149-164.
- Ilgar, Lütfü and Ilgar Şengül, (2012), "An Investigation of the Relationship between the Teacher Candidates' Internet Usage and Their Habits of Reading", **Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences** 46, 3220-3224.
- Kamalova, Lera A. and Natal'ya D. Koletvinova (2016), "The Problem of Reading and Reading Culture Improvement of Students-Bachelors of Elementary Education in Modern High Institution" International Journal of Environmental and Science Education 11(4), 473-484.
- Karaata, Cemal (2010), "Millî Eğitim Bakanlığında Görevli İngilizce Öğretmenlerinin Hizmet İçi Eğitimine İlişkin Öneriler", **Milli Eğitim Dergisi** 40(185), 107-129.
- Krashen, Stephen D. (2004), **The Power of Reading: Insights from the Research**, 2nd Ed., Libraries Unlimited, Connecticut.
- Kumar, Ranjit (2011), **Research Methodology: A Step-By-Step Guide for Beginners,** 3rd. Ed., Sage Publications Limited, U.K.
- Loan, Fayaz Ahmad (2011), "Reading Habits of the College Students across Discipline", **Journal** of The Young Librarians Association, 4, 42-50.
- McGeown, Sarah P. et al. (2015), "Exploring the Relationship between Adolescent's Reading Skills, Reading Motivation and Reading Habits", **Reading and Writing**, 28(4), 545-569.

- Mokhtari, Kouider and Ravi Sheorey (1994), "Reading Habits of University ESL Students at Different Levels of English Proficiency and Education", **Journal of Research in Reading**, 17(1), 46-61.
- Noor, Noorizah Mohd. (2011), "Reading Habits and Preferences of EFL Post Graduates: a Case Study" **Indonesian Journal of Applied Linguistics**, 1(1), 1-9.
- Odabaş, Hüseyin et al. (2008), "Üniversite Öğrencilerinin Okuma Alışkanlığı: Ankara Üniversitesi Örneği", **Bilgi Dünyası**, 9(2), 431-465.
- Ögeyik, Muhlise Coşgun and Akyay Esin (2009), "Investigating Reading Habits and Preferences of Student Teachers at Foreign Language Departments", **The International Journal Of Language Society and Culture, 28**, 72-78.
- ÖSYM (2018), "TABLO-4 Merkezi Yerleştirme İle Öğrenci Alan Yükseköğretim Lisans Programları", https://dokuman.osym.gov.tr/pdfdokuman/2018/YKS/YER/Tablo4MinMax_31082018.pdf (01.05.2019)
- Quinn, Edward (2006), **A Dictionary of Literary and Thematic Terms**, 2nd. Ed., Facts On File, New York.
- Schwarz, Daniel R. (2008), **In Defense of Reading: Teaching Literature in the Twenty-first Century,** 1st Ed., John Wiley & Sons, Singapore.
- Shen, Li-Bi (2006) "Computer Technology and College Students' Reading Habits", **Chia-Nan Annual Bulletin**, 32, 559-572.
- Wicks, Alison and Whiteford Gail (2006), "Conceptual and Practical Issues in Qualitative Research: Reflections on a Life-History Study", **Scandinavian Journal of Occupational Therapy**, 13(2), 94-100.
- Yamashita, Junko (2013), "Effects of Extensive Reading on Reading Attitudes in a Foreign Language", **Reading in a Foreign Language** 25(2), 248-263.
- Yılmaz, Bülent (2004), "Öğrencilerin Okuma ve Kütüphane Kullanma Alışkanlıklarında Ebeveynlerin Duyarlılığı", **Bilgi Dünyası** 5(2), 115-136.
- Yılmaz, Bülent et. Al (2009), "Hacettepe Üniversitesi ve Bilkent Üniversitesi Öğrencilerinin Okuma Alışkanlıkları Üzerine Bir Araştırma", **Türk Kütüphaneciliği**, 23(1), 22-51.



Appendix 1. Questionnaire in Turkish

Değerti Öğrenciler,								
	izi araştırmı						kte yapmak istediğ msel amaçla kullan	
gr.Gör. Hakan YE	NİÇERİ E-po	sta: hyeniceri@art	sin.edu.tr	Tel: 542	681 83 99	Tez Danışman	ı: Doç. Dr. Mustafa N	Naci KAYAOĞLU
alışmaya katılmay	rı kabul ediye	ersanız, lütfen aşa;	ğıdaki kutucuğu	isaretk	eyiniz.			
Bu çalışma hakk	ında bilgilend	irildim ve çalışmay	a katılmayı kabu	d ediyor	num.			
. KİŞİSEL BİLGİ	LER							
. Cinsiyet: () Kadın (.	.) Erkek						
, Yaş:								
. Okumakta olduğ	unuz bölüm:	() İngili	iz Dili ve Edebiy	atı	() İngilize	ee Öğretmenliği		
. Universite giris s	mayındaki 1	ve 2. tercibinizi b	elirtiniz (Sadeo	e bölün	ů.			
. Tercihiniz			27845		1-2			
Tercihiniz								
ngiliz Dili ve Edebi		Mütercim Tercü			Amerikan K	ültürü ve Edebiy	ods.	
							ans.	
igilizce Öğretmenli	gi	Ingiliz Dil Bilim	W 5		Diger: (Latt	en belittiniz	********************	
. Bahanizin tahsil	durumu:	() Yok	() Ilkokul		.) Ortaokul	() Lise	() Universite	() Lisansüstü
. Annenizin tahsil	durumu:	() Yok	() İlkokul	6.) Ortaokul	() Lise	() Universite	() Lisansüstü
. Bu bölüme girişir	niz öncesi son	5 villik dönemde,	okumaya günd	e ortala	ma ne kadar	zaman ayırırdır	uz?	nc
) 0-30 dakika	()	30-60 dakika	() 1-2:	saat	- () 2-3 saat	() 3 sa	at üzeri
. Bu bölüme girişli . Bu bölüme girişli anc yazmaz.)	Se 2	CS.50 S			E		Sıklığına göre sırala	yunız. (En fazla 5
W 000 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 0								
))								
)								
)								
)				- 1				
oman	Masal	M	akale	P	sikoloji kitapli	m Politik	kitaplar	
	1440000000	G	izete	Т	arih kitaplan	Kişisel	gelişim	
-1171515	Mitoloji							
ikāye	Biyograf	30	ergi	F	elsefe kitaplar	Ders m	ateryalleri	
likāye ür īvatro oyunları	1 Aug 550	i De	ergi limsel yazılar		elsefe kitaplar Pini kitaplar	Ders m		

sıralayınız. (En fazla 5 ta		ıde, aşağıd	aki roma	ın ve l	hikiye te	emalarından	en çok hangileri	ni okurdunuz? Sıklığına
D								
2)								
3)								
4)								
5)								
Macera	Aşk	Suç	/cinayet			Psikolojik		Sosyal
Bilim kurgu	Gerilim	Giz	em			Tarihi		Türk klasikleri
Aksiyon	Korku	Dra	m			Felsefi		Dünya klasikleri
Polisiye	Fantastik	Biy	ografik			Dini		Hiçbiri
Diger (Lütfen belirtiniz)						3171107		12000 1041
11. Bu bölüme girişiniz ör fazla 3 tane yazınsz.)		düşündüğü	nüz mesi	iek(ler)) aşağıda	kälerden han	gileriydi? İstek sı	trantza göre yazınız. (En
3)	***************************************			Т				T
Ingilizce öğretmenliği Ç	Cevirmenlik Al	cademisyen	lik	Turi	ist reliber	fiĝi U	çuş görevliliği	Ticaret
Diğer (Lütfen belirtiniz)								
	ncesi <u>son 5 yıllık</u> dönemd	e, okaryacaj diklardan ĉ				min ederdiniz	T	çenek işaretleyebilirsiniz itfen belirtiniz)
12. Bu bölüme girişiniz ör () Satın alarak () Kür 13. Bu bölüme girişim ön	ncesi <u>sun 5 yıllık</u> dönemde üphanclerden () Tam	dıklardan ö	dünç aları	ak () Elektr	ronik kitap ola	T	
() Sotun alarak () Kür 13. Bu bölüme girişim ön	ncesi <u>son 5 yıllık</u> dönemdı üphanelerden () Tam cesi son 5 yıllık süreçte,						T	
() Satın alarık () Kür 13. Bu bölüme girişim ön ders veya ödevler haricin	ncesi <u>son 5 yıllık</u> dönemdı üphanelerden () Tam cesi son 5 yıllık süreçte,	Kesinlikle katılmyorum	dünç aları	ak () Elektr	ronik kitap ola	T	
() Satın alarak () Kür 13. Bu bölüme girişim ön ders veva ödevler haricin 1. Okumaktar	ncesi sun 5 yıllık dönemde üphanclerden () Tanı cesi sun 5 yıllık süreçte, de	Kesinlikle katılmıyorum	Kısınen katılmıyorum	Kararszam	Kısıncıı katılıyorum	Kesinlikke katshyorum katshyorum	T	
I.3. Bu bölüme girişim ön ders veva ödevler haricin 1. Okumaktar 2. Stresten uzaklaşmak	ncesi sun 5 yıllık dönemd tüphanclerden () Tam cesi sun 5 yıllık süreçte, de	Nesiniskie Kasiniskie Kasiniskie Mariouwa Ma Mariouwa Ma	Ksmen Katilmiyorum 5	Kararacam 3	Ksmen katılyorum 4	Kesiniikke kattiyo erum 2.	T	
13. Bu bölüme girişim önders veya ödevler haricin 1. Okumaktar 2. Stresten uzaklaşmak 3. Can sıkıntısın	ncesi son 5 yıllık dönemde üphanclerden () Tam cesi son 5 yıllık süreçte, de	Nesiniikle karimiyoonu m. I	Kramen Kratilmiyorum 2	ak Waranam 3	Wante manus Appendix 4	Kesinlishe kathiyorum 5	T	
13. Bu bölüme girişim önders veva ödevler haricin 1. Okumaktar 2. Stresten uzaklaşmak 3. Can sıkıntısını 4. Boş zamanlarının d	ncesi sun 5 yıllık dönemde tüphanclerden () Tam cesi sun 5 yıllık süreçte, de	diklardan 6 Nesipliye N. I M. I M. I M. I M. I	Kramen Kramen Kratelmiyorum 2 2	ak (Kramen Kramen 4 4 4 4	Kesiniikle katelijasuum 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	T	
3. Bu bölüme girişim önders veva ödevler haricin 1. Okumaktar 2. Stresten uzaklaşmak 3. Can sıkıntısını 4. Boş zamanlarını d	ncesi sun 5 yıllık dönemdi üphanclerden () Tanı cesi sun 5 yıllık süreçte, de	diklardan 6 Nesiplijke M. I M. I M. I M. I M. I M. I	Kramen Kramen Kramen Artifumkorum 2 2 2 2	ak (Wisher Warmen 4 4 4 4 4	Kesiniikke katulooruun 2 5 5 5	T	
1.3. Bu bölüme girişim önders veva ödevler haricin 1. Okumaktar 2. Stresten uzaklaşmak 3. Can sıkıntısını 4. Boş zamanlarını d 5. Bilgi birikin 6. Kişisel gelişin	ncesi sun 5 yıllık dönemdi üphanclerden () Tanı cesi sun 5 yıllık süreçte, de	diklardan 6 Reziplike m.	Komen Kamen 2 2 2 2 2 2	Name of the state	Kismen and A 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4	Kesinlikle katulyaerum 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	T	
13. Bu bölüme girisim önders veva ödevler haricin 1. Okumaktar 2. Stresten uzaklaşmak 3. Can sıkıntısın 4. Boş zamanlarını d 5. Bilgi birikin 6. Kişisel gelişin 7. Farklı bakış açı	ncesi son 5 yıllık dönemde tüphanclerden () Tam cesi son 5 yıllık süreçte, de	diklardan 6 m. 1 m. 1 m. 1 m. 1 m. 1 m. 1	Komen Komen Komen Z Z Z Z	Number Name of Street, Name of	Elektrumunungungungungungungungungungungungungun	Kesinlishe kathiyorum 5	T	
13. Bu bölüme girişim ön ders veva ödevler haricin 1. Okumaktar 2. Stresten uzaklaşmak 3. Can sıkıntısını 4. Boş zamanlarının d 5. Bilgi birikin 6. Kişisel gelişin 7. Farklı bakış açı 8. Ker	ncesi sun 5 yıllık dönemde üphanclerden () Tanı cesi sun 5 yıllık süreçte, de	m. 1 m. 1 m. 1 m. 1 m. 1 m. 1 m. 1	Krancu Wanduni Van Krancu Van Van Van Van Van Van Van Van Van Van	3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3	Yearner Personal Pers	Keinilike Rathiporum S S S S S S S	T	
13. Bu bölüme girişim ön ders veva ödevler haricin 1. Okumaktar 2. Stresten uzaklaşmak 3. Can sıkıntısını 4. Boş zamanlarını d 5. Bilgi birikin 6. Kişisel gelişin 7. Farklı bakış açı 8. Ker	ncesi son 5 yıllık dönemde üphanclerden () Tanı cesi son 5 yıllık süreçte, de	m. 1 m. 1 m. 1 m. 1 m. 1 m. 1 m. 1 m. 1	Kranen Kr	3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3	Wisherm Wanthorn 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4	Kesinikke katupoorum 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	T	
13. Bu bölüme girişim önders veva ödevler haricin 1. Okumaktar 2. Stresten uzaklaşmak 3. Can sıkıntısını 4. Boş zamanlarını d 5. Bilgi birikin 6. Kişisel gelişin 7. Farklı bakış açı 8. Ker 9. Ufkum 10. Gerçek dünyada	ncesi son 5 yıllık dönemdi üphanclerden () Tam cesi son 5 yıllık süreçte, de	diklardan 6 m. I W. Cipilike m. I	Komen Kanlen Kan Kanlen Kanlen Kanlen Kanlen Kanlen Kanlen Kanlen Kanlen Kanlen Kanlen Kanlen Kanlen Kanlen Kanlen Kanlen Kanlen Kanlen Kanlen Kanlen Kan Kanlen Kan Kanlen Kanlen Kanlen Kanlen Kanlen Kanlen Kanlen Kanlen Kan Kan Kanlen Kan Kan Kan Kan Kan Kan Kan Kan Kan Ka	3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3	Krancu Wanth orum	Kesinlishe katupi orum	T	

13. Okuma anlama becerimi geliştirmek için okurdum.

Yorum yeteneğimi geliştirmek için okurdum.
 Eleştirel düşünce yeteneği kazanmak için okurdum.

16. Dil yeteneklerimi geliştirmek için okurdum,

17. Yabancı dilimi geliştirmek için okurdum.

14. Bu bölüme girişim öncesi son 5 yıllık süreçte	Kesinlikle katılmıyorum	Kismen katilmiyorum	Kararstans	Kismen katiliyorum	Kesinlikle
Kitap okumayi severdim.	1	2	3	4	5
Edebiyata ilgi duyardım.	-1	2	3	4	5
 Kitap okuma alışkanlığımın olduğunu düşünüyorum. 	31	2	3	4	5
Yeterince kitap okuduğumu düşümiyonum.	- 11	2	3:	4	5
 Kitap okumanın bir ihtiyaç olduğunu düşünüyordum. 	- Ta	2	3	4	5
 Ökumakta olduğum bölümü seçmemde okuma alışkanlığım etkili oldu. 	1	2	3	4	5
 Bu bölüme girmeden önce daha çok İngilizce kitaplar okurdum. 	1	2	3	4	5
 Bu bölüme girmeden önce daha çok Türkçe kitaplar okurdum. 		2	3	4	5
 Ingilizce kitap okumayı seviyordum. 	1	2	3	4	5
10. E-kitaplar okurdum.	- 11	2	3	4	5
11. Aile bireylerim kitap okurdu.	1	2	3	4	5
 Küçükken aile bireylerim bana kitap okurdu. 	1	2	3	4	5
13. Aile bireylerim kitap okuma alışkanlığı oluşturmamda etkili oldu.	_1	2	3	4	5
 Öğretmenlerim kitap okuma alışkanlığı oluşturmanıda etkili oldu. 	1	2	3	4	5
 Aile bireylerim kitap okumam için beni teşvik ederdi. 	1	2	3	4	5
 Öğretmenlerim kitap okumam için beni teşvik ederdi. 	11	2	3.	4	5
17. Okullardaki okuma saatleri kitap okuma alışkanlığı oluşturmamda etkili oldu.	- 1	2	3	4	- 5
18. Kitap okumoyi sevmezdim.	1	2	3	4	5
19. Kitap okurken sıkılırdım.	- 1	2	3	4	5
$20.\ Cniversite sınavına hazırlanmak kitap okuma alışkanlığını olumsuz etkilerdi.$	1	2	3	4	5
 Derslerim kitap okumamı olumsuz etkilerdi. 	1	2	3	4	5
22 Kitap okumaya çok zaman bulamazdım.	- 1	2	3	4.	- 5
 Kitaplara crişim konusunda maddi imkânlarım kısıtlıydı. 	-1	2	3	4	.5
24. Kütüphanelerden kitap okuma konusunda yeterince faydalanamıyordum.	1	2	3	4	5
 Televizyon kitap okumamı olumsuz etkiliyordu. 	- 1	2	3	4	- 5
26. Înternet ve cep telefona kitap okumamı olumsaz etkiliyordu.	1	2	3	4	5
27. Sosyal hayatını kitap okumamı olumsuz etkiliyordu.	1	2	3.	4	5

15. De bounde gu meets oners souther supramous me management big extensi manage.

Appendix 2. Questionnaire in English

Car students,							
	to investigate you il and will only be					in this department.	Your answers wil
structor: Hakar	n YENİÇERİ E-n	mil: hyeniceri@a	nvin.edu w Te	1: 542 681 83 99	Thesis Supervi	sor: Dr. Mustafa Nac	i KAYAOĞLU
you volunteer	to participate in t	he study, please	tick the box below	la .			
I was inform	ed about this study	and I volunteer to	participate in it.				
Personal Info	ermation						
20 - 55 - 1							
Gender:	() Female (Male					
Age:							
Your departs	nent:	() Engli	sh language and lit	erature () English language	e teaching	
Please specify	your first and sec	and preferences	in the university	entrance evans. (O	uly the departme	mt)	
			an the university o	and annex Cames (C)	they time the part time	,acy	
eglish language	and Literature	Translation and	interpreting	American c	ulture and literatu	ire	
glish language	Teaching	English Linguist	ies	Other (Plea	se specify):		Marie Indiana
			/ 10	() Secondary	/ 18E4	4 3000000	i manage
Education lev	el of your father:	() None	()Primary school	school	() High school	() University	() Master's degree
Education lev	el of your mother	() None	()Primary school	() Secondary school	() High school	() University	() Master's degree
How much tir	me did you allocut	e for reading for	the five years befo	ore your enrollme	nt in this departn	nent?	
.) 0-30 minute	s ()?	0-60 minutes	() 1-2 ho	ors	() 2-3 hours	() 3 hc	ours or more
How many b	ooks did you read	annually on ave	rune for the five v	ears before your e	arollment in this	denurtment?	- Constitution
trow many to	costs usa you resur	annually on aver	age for the five yo	ars neithe your e	arominent in this	осрагиненс.	1 11000
				which of the follow	ing kinds of wri	tten text types did y	ou read most?
ease sort by fi	requency. (Please v	write no more th	an five)				V. 11 CO. 11 S. 11 S. 11 S. 11 S. 11 S. 11 S. 11 S. 11 S. 11 S. 11 S. 11 S. 11 S. 11 S. 11 S. 11 S. 11 S. 11 S
wel	Fable	Ar	ticle	Psychology bo	oks Politica	d books	
ory	Mythology		энграрег	History books		il development	
*	Biography	i da	agazine	Philosophy boo	971A R899/AND	materials	
warm.		1.54	ngarine.	Financial and Proceedings of the Proceedings of the Process of the	man 1 S. OHITSC	INMEDIATE STATES	
rama	Essay		ientific writings	Religious book			

			departm	ent, wi	nich of th	e followi	ng themes	of novels and	stories did you read
Please sort by freq	uency. (Please write r	to more than five)							
1									
)									
)									
)		22							
Adventure	Romance		Trime			Psych	ological		ocial
cience-fiction	Suspense	,	dystery			Histo	rical		urkish classics
Action	Horror	1	Drama			Philos	sophical		Vorld classics
Detective	Fantastic		Siographi	6		Relig	ious	,	lone
Other (Please speci	fyr								
	following occupation(s ase write no more than		ng to do	in the	future pr	ior to yo	ur enrolin	nent in this de	partment? Please sort
)									
)									
)									
inglish teacher	Translator	Academici	an	т	our guide	g	Flight	attendant	Businessman
Other (Please speci	fyr	111111111111111111111111111111111111111							
	ars before your enrol	lment in this depar	tment, b	ow did	you obta	in the bo	oks to rea	d? (You can sp	ecify more than one
option)				000000000000000000000000000000000000000				adjunate and a	50 Petr 1910 Petro-Medical 1900
) By purchasing	(,,) From libraries	() By borrowing	from oth	ners	(c.) As e-bo	oks	Other (Plea	se specify):
	e years before my em from my courses and		Strongly disagree	Disagne	Neutral	убъе	Strongly		
	1. I read because	I enjoyed reading.	1	2	3	4	5		
2.1	read in order to relieve	stress and to relax.	1	2	3	4	5		
	3. I read in order to o	and the second second	1	2	3	4	5		
	3. I read in order to c	wercome noredom,		1961					
4.1 m	and in order to make us		1	2	3	4	5		

13. For the last five years before my enrollment in this department, apart from my courses and my homework	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
1. I read because I enjoyed reading.	1	2	3	4	5
2. I read in order to relieve stress and to relax.	1	2	3	4	5
1 read in order to overcome boredom,	1	2	3	4	5
4. I read in order to make use of my spare time.	1	2	3	4	- 5
I read in order to increase my knowledge.	1	2	3	4	5
6. I read for personal development,	1	2	3	4	5
I read in order to gain different perspectives.	1	2	3	4	5
8. I read in order to improve my self-awareness.	1	2	3	4	5
9. I read in order to broaden my horizon.	1	2	3	4	5
10. I read in order to get away from the real world.	[010]	2	3	4	5
11. I read in order to improve my imagination.	1	2	3	4	5
12. I read in order to follow technological developments.	1	2	3	4	5
13. I read in order to improve my reading comprehension.	1	2	3	4	5
14.1 read in order to improve my interpretation capacity.	1	2	3	4	5
I read in order to gain critical thinking skills.	1	2	3	4	5
16. I read in order to improve my language skills.	018	2	3	4	-5
17. I read in order to improve my foreign language skills.	1	2	3	4	5

For the last five year period prior to my enrollment in this department	Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
1. I loved reading.	1	2	3	4	5
2. I was interested in literature.	- 1	2	3	4	5
3. I think I had a habit of reading.	I.	2	3	4	5
4. I think I read enough.	1	2	3	4	5
5. I thought reading is a need.	1.	2	3	4	.5
6. My habit of reading was instrumental in my decision to enroll in this department.	1	2	3	4	5
7. Before coming to this department, I mostly read books in English.	1	2	3	4	5
8. Before coming to this department, I mostly read books in Turkish.	1	2	3	4	5
9. I loved reading books in English.	1	2	3	4	5
10. I read e-books.	1	2	-3	4	5
11. My family members read books.	1	2	3	-4	5
12. When I was a child, my family members read to me.	1	2	3	4	5
13. My family members were instrumental in developing my reading habit.	I.	2	3	4	5
 My teachers were instrumental in developing my reading habit. 	1	2	3	4	5
15. My family members encouraged me to read.	1	2	3	4	.5
16. My teachers encouraged me to read.	t	2	3	-4	5
17. The reading hours at school were instrumental in developing my reading habit.	1.	2	3	34	5
18. I did not like reading.	1	2	3	4	5
19.1 got bored while reading.	-1	2	3	4	5
20. Preparing for the university entrance exam negatively influenced my reading habit.	1	2	3	4	5
 My courses negatively influenced my reading habit. 	1	2	3	4	5
22. I did not have much time to read.	L	2	3	4	- 5
23. I did not have much money to buy books.	10	2	3	4	- 5
 I could not make use of libraries adequately to read. 	1	2	3	4	5
 Television negatively influenced my reading habit. 	1	2	3	4	5
26. Internet and cellphones negatively influenced my reading habit.	1	2	3	4	5
27. My social life negatively influenced my reading habit.	1	2	3	4	- 5

15. Can you talk about your reading habits prior to your enrollment in this department briefly?

Appendix 3. Life History in Turkish

Değerli Öğrenciler,
Bu çalışma, sizlerin okumakta olduğunuz bölüme girişiniz öncesi okuma alışkanlıklarınızı ve gelecekte yapmal istediğiniz meslek(ler)e dair tercih ve görüşlerinizi araştırmayı amaçlamaktadır. Verdiğiniz cevaplar gizl tutulacak ve sadece bilimsel amaçla kullanılacaktır. Katkılarınız için çok teşekkürler.
Öğr,Gör, Hakan YENİÇERİ E-posta: <u>hyeniceri@artvin.edu.tr</u> Tel: 542 681 83 99 Tez Danışmanı: Doç, Dr. Mustafa Naci KAYAOĞLU E-posta: naci@ktu.edu.tr
Çalışmaya katılmayı kabul ediyorsanız, lütfen aşağıdaki kutucuğu işaretleyiniz.
Bu çalışma hakkında bilgilendirildim ve çalışmaya katılmayı kabul ediyorum.
A. KİŞİSEL BİLGİLER
1. Cinsiyet: () Kadın () Erkek
2. Yaş:
3. Okumakta olduğunuz bölüm:
4. Üniversite giriş sınavındaki 1. tercihiniz (Üniversite/Bölüm)
5. Üniversite giriş sınavındaki 2. tercihiniz (Üniversite/Bölüm)
B. OKUMAKTA OLDUĞUNUZ BÖLÜME GİRİŞ ÖNCESİ OKUMA ALIŞKANLIKLARINIZ
<u>Bu bölüme başlamanızdan önceki son 5 yıllık dönemdeki</u> okuma alışkanlıklarınız hakkında bilgi veriniz. Neler okurdunuz, okumaya ne kadar zaman ayırırdınız, ne sıklıkla ve neden okurdunuz?
(Lütfen arka sayfaya geçiniz)

a an agree of all trees and market an above on the
C. GELECEKLE İLGİLİ MESLEKİ TERCİH VE GÖRÜŞLERİNİZ
Gelecekte yapmak istediğiniz meslek(ler)e dair tercih ve görüşlerinizi nedenleriyle birlikte belirtiniz.

Appendix 4. Life History in English

Dear students,	
	te your reading habits and future career plans prior to your enrollment in this Il be kept confidential and will only be used for scientific purposes. Thanks a lot for
Instructor: Hakan YENİÇERİ Thesis Supervisor: Dr. Mustafa !	E-mail: hyeniceri@artvin.edu.tr Tel: 542 681 83 99 Naci KAYAOĞLU E-mail: naci@ktu.edu.tr
If you volunteer to participate	in the study, please tick the box below.
I was informed about this s	study and I volunteer to participate in it.
A. PERSONAL INFORMATION	ON
1. Gender: () Female	() Male
2. Age:	
3. Your department:	
	niversity entrance exam (University/Department)
	university entrance exam (University/Department)
B. YOUR READING HABITS	S PRIOR TO YOUR ENROLLMENT IN YOUR DEPARTMENT
Please write about your readin	ng habits for the last five years prior to your enrollment in your department. What fid you allocate for reading and why did you read?
	no you another for reading and way the you read.

C. YOUR FUTURE CAREER PREFERENCES AND VIEWS
Please write about your preferences and views about the occupation(s) you want to do in the future by giving your
easons.
Casons.

CURRICULUM VITAE

Hakan YENİÇERİ was born in Artvin on 21.05.1976. He finished primary and secondary schools in Anbarlı Regional Boarding Secondary School in Borçka in 1987 and in 1990 respectively. He finished high school at Akpınar Anatolian Teacher Training High School in Samsun in 1994. Upon graduation from high school, he started his bachelor degree in English Language Teaching department at Boğaziçi University in 1994. He started his master's degree in Karadeniz Technical University Applied Linguistics programme in 2015. He has been working as an English instructor at Artvin Çoruh University since 2015. He is married and has a two-year-old daughter. He can speak English fluently.